Climate-related Disclosures



Australian Government

Australian Accounting Standards Board

Obtaining a copy of this Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard

This Standard is available on the AASB Digital Standards Portal (standards.aasb.gov.au), which can also be accessed from aasb.gov.au.

Australian Accounting Standards Board PO Box 204 Collins Street West Victoria 8007 AUSTRALIA

Phone: (03) 9617 7600 E-mail: standard@aasb.gov.au Website: www.aasb.gov.au

Other enquiries

Phone: (03) 9617 7600 E-mail: standard@aasb.gov.au

COPYRIGHT

© Commonwealth of Australia 2024

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards contain copyright material of the IFRS[®] Foundation (Foundation) in respect of which all rights are reserved.

Reproduced and distributed by the Australian Accounting Standards Board with the permission of the Foundation within the Commonwealth of Australia only. No rights granted to third parties other than as permitted by the <u>Terms of Use</u> without the prior written permission of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Foundation.

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards are issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board in respect of their application in Australia and have not been prepared or endorsed by the International Sustainability Standards Board.

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards are not to be actively distributed outside Australia.

ISSN 2982-1509

Contents

PREFACE

COMPARISON WITH IFRS S2

AUSTRALIAN SUSTAINABILITY REPORTING STANDARD AASB S2 CLIMATE-RELATED DISCLOSURES

	from paragraph
OBJECTIVE	1
SCOPE	3
CORE CONTENT	5
Governance	5
Strategy	8
Risk management	24
Metrics and targets	27
COMMENCEMENT OF THE LEGISLATIVE INSTRUMENT	Aus37.2
APPENDICES	
A Defined terms	
B Application guidance	
C Effective date and transition	
D General requirements for disclosure of climate-related financial information	
DELETED IFRS S2 TEXT	
BASIS FOR CONCLUSIONS AND DISSENTING VIEW	

AVAILABLE ON THE AASB STANDARDS PORTAL Accompanying Guidance on IFRS S2 Basis for Conclusions on IFRS S2

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* is set out in paragraphs 1–Aus37.2 and Appendices A–D. All the paragraphs have equal authority. Paragraphs in **bold type** state the main principles. Terms defined in Appendix A are in *italics* the first time they appear in the Standard.

Preface

Introduction

The Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) develops, issues and maintains Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards. The AASB is an Australian Government entity under the *Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001*.

Main features of this Standard

Main requirements

AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* sets out disclosure requirements for an entity to provide useful information to primary users of its general purpose financial report about climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's cash flows, access to finance or cost of capital over the short, medium or long term.

The main climate-related financial disclosure requirements relate to governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets, including information about scenario analysis and Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions.

The Standard also includes general requirements for the disclosure of climate-related financial information (see Appendix D). The general requirements include the conceptual foundations for reporting such information, the location of disclosures, the timing of reporting and disclosures relating to judgements, uncertainties and errors.

An entity applying AASB S2 is not required to apply AASB S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainabilityrelated Financial Information*, which is a voluntary Standard addressing sustainability-related financial disclosures in general. Appendix D of this Standard contains paragraphs drawn from AASB S1. However, the requirements in Appendix D apply only to climate-related financial information, and not to the broader sustainability-related financial information covered by AASB S1. Nevertheless, an entity may refer to AASB S1 for guidance in complying with the requirements in Appendix D.

Application date

This Standard applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier application is permitted.

The *Corporations Act 2001* sets out which entities are required to comply with this Standard and specifies three application dates (financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2025, 1 July 2026 and 1 July 2027) for the various classes of entity.

Comparison with IFRS S2

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* is based on IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard IFRS S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* issued by the International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB). The AASB developed AASB S2 by incorporating the content of IFRS S2, including the IFRS S2 paragraph numbering, modified to the extent necessary to take account of the Australian legal and institutional environment and, in particular, to ensure that any disclosure and transparency provisions are appropriate. This includes:

- (a) adding Australian-specific paragraphs (with an "Aus" prefix in the paragraph numbering) relating to the commencement of the legislative instrument, the effective date of AASB S2 and other Australian-specific requirements; and
- (b) modifying certain requirements set out in IFRS S2 by replacing IFRS S2 paragraphs with Australian-specific paragraphs (with an "Aus" prefix in the paragraph numbering) in AASB S2. Paragraphs that apply only to not-for-profit entities begin by identifying their limited applicability.

AASB S2 includes modifications from the requirements set out in IFRS S2, as described below.

- (a) The ISSB developed IFRS S2 to be applied concurrently with IFRS S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure* of Sustainability-related Financial Information. The content of IFRS S1 is incorporated in AASB S1 *General* Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information. AASB S1 is a voluntary Standard and therefore:
 - (i) an entity applying AASB S2 is not required to apply AASB S1. Rather, an entity applying AASB S2 applies the requirements set out in Appendix D General requirements for disclosure of climate-related financial information, which incorporates the content of IFRS S1 the AASB considered necessary to enable AASB S2 to function as the standalone mandatory Standard containing all of the requirements regarding climate-related financial disclosures; and
 - (ii) the AASB clarified that the requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs 7 and 26 apply particularly if an entity elects to voluntarily apply AASB S1 to disclose information about other sustainabilityrelated risks and opportunities in addition to climate-related risks and opportunities. The paragraphs require an entity to avoid unnecessary duplication of disclosures by providing integrated disclosures instead of separate disclosures for each sustainability-related risk and opportunity, if oversight of sustainability-related risks and opportunities is managed on an integrated basis.
- (b) Relevant references to IFRS S1 paragraphs are replaced with references to Appendix D paragraphs. The requirements set out in IFRS S1 paragraphs B6(b) and B11 are consistent with IFRS S2 paragraphs B34 and B36; consequently, cross-references to IFRS S1 paragraphs B6(b) and B11 are omitted in AASB S2 paragraphs B34–B36.
- (c) To comply with IFRS S2, in accordance with IFRS S1 paragraphs 20 and B38, an entity would need to prepare climate-related financial disclosures for its consolidated group if the related financial statements are prepared for that consolidated group. The *Corporations Act 2001*, as amended by the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024*, does not require a parent entity of a consolidated group to prepare climate-related financial disclosures for its consolidated group. Under section 292A(2) of the Corporations Act, a parent entity has the choice of preparing a sustainability report for either the consolidated entity or the parent entity. Accordingly, the AASB modified the requirements set out in Appendix D based on those IFRS S1 paragraphs to specify that an entity's climate-related financial disclosures shall be for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements unless otherwise permitted by law.
- (d) IFRS S2 paragraphs 12, 23, 28(b), 32, 37, B65(d) and B67 require an entity to disclose industry-based metrics and to refer to and consider the applicability of the industry-based disclosure topics (and the industry-based metrics associated with those disclosure topics) defined in the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2* issued by the ISSB. The AASB modified or omitted (where relevant) the requirements in those IFRS S2 paragraphs so that an entity applying AASB S2 is not required to disclose industry-based metrics or to consider those disclosure topics. The AASB also omitted the definition of "disclosure topic" in Appendix A *Defined terms*.
- (e) A not-for-profit entity is required to refer to the descriptions of "general purpose financial reports" and "primary users of general purpose financial reports" in the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* when applying AASB S2, rather than the definitions of those terms in Appendix A.
- (f) Consistent with the *Legislation Act 2003*, AASB S2 specifies the relevant versions of non-legislative Australian documents and foreign documents referenced in the Standard, such as the latest international agreement on climate change and the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS).

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard AASB S2

The Australian Accounting Standards Board makes Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* under section 336A of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Dated 20 September 2024

Keith Kendall Chair – AASB

Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures*

Objective

- 1 The objective of AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures* is to require an entity to disclose information about its *climate-related risks and opportunities* that is useful to *primary users of general purpose financial reports* in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity.¹
- 2 This Standard requires an entity to disclose information about climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's cash flows, its access to finance or cost of capital over the short, medium or long term. For the purposes of this Standard, these risks and opportunities are collectively referred to as 'climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects'.

Scope

- **3** This Standard applies to:
 - (a) climate-related risks to which the entity is exposed, which are:
 - (i) *climate-related physical risks*; and
 - (ii) *climate-related transition risks*; and
 - (b) climate-related opportunities available to the entity.
- 4 Climate-related risks and opportunities that could not reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects are outside the scope of this Standard.

Core content

Governance

5 The objective of climate-related financial disclosures on governance is to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the governance processes, controls and procedures an entity uses to monitor, manage and oversee climate-related risks and opportunities.

- 6 To achieve this objective, an entity shall disclose information about:
 - (a) the governance body(s) (which can include a board, committee or equivalent body charged with governance) or individual(s) responsible for oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities. Specifically, the entity shall identify that body(s) or individual(s) and disclose information about:
 - how responsibilities for climate-related risks and opportunities are reflected in the terms of reference, mandates, role descriptions and other related policies applicable to that body(s) or individual(s);
 - (ii) how the body(s) or individual(s) determines whether appropriate skills and competencies are available or will be developed to oversee strategies designed to respond to climaterelated risks and opportunities;

¹ Throughout this Standard, the terms 'primary users' and 'users' are used interchangeably, with the same meaning.

- (iii) how and how often the body(s) or individual(s) is informed about climate-related risks and opportunities;
- (iv) how the body(s) or individual(s) takes into account climate-related risks and opportunities when overseeing the entity's strategy, its decisions on major transactions and its risk management processes and related policies, including whether the body(s) or individual(s) has considered trade-offs associated with those risks and opportunities; and
- (v) how the body(s) or individual(s) oversees the setting of targets related to climate-related risks and opportunities, and monitors progress towards those targets (see paragraphs 33–36), including whether and how related performance metrics are included in remuneration policies (see paragraph 29(g)).
- (b) management's role in the governance processes, controls and procedures used to monitor, manage and oversee climate-related risks and opportunities, including information about:
 - (i) whether the role is delegated to a specific management-level position or managementlevel committee and how oversight is exercised over that position or committee; and
 - (ii) whether management uses controls and procedures to support the oversight of climaterelated risks and opportunities and, if so, how these controls and procedures are integrated with other internal functions.
- 7 In preparing disclosures to fulfil the requirements in paragraph 6, an entity shall avoid unnecessary duplication in accordance with Appendix D (see paragraph B42(b) in Appendix D). For example, although an entity shall provide the information required by paragraph 6, if oversight of sustainability-related risks and opportunities is managed on an integrated basis, the entity would avoid duplication by providing integrated governance disclosures instead of separate disclosures for each sustainability-related risk and opportunity.
- Aus7.1 The requirement in paragraph 7 to avoid unnecessary duplication applies particularly if an entity elects to voluntarily apply AASB S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information* (September 2024) to disclose information about other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in addition to climate-related risks and opportunities in *general purpose financial reports*.

Strategy

- 8 The objective of climate-related financial disclosures on strategy is to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand an entity's strategy for managing climate-related risks and opportunities.
- 9 Specifically, an entity shall disclose information to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand:
 - (a) the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects (see paragraphs 10–12);
 - (b) the current and anticipated effects of those climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's *business model* and *value chain* (see paragraph 13);
 - (c) the effects of those climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's strategy and decisionmaking, including information about its *climate-related transition plan* (see paragraph 14);
 - (d) the effects of those climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows for the reporting period, and their anticipated effects on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows over the short, medium and long term, taking into consideration how those climate-related risks and opportunities have been factored into the entity's financial planning (see paragraphs 15–21); and
 - (e) the *climate resilience* of the entity's strategy and its business model to climate-related changes, developments and uncertainties, taking into consideration the entity's identified climate-related risks and opportunities (see paragraph 22).

Climate-related risks and opportunities

- 10 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects. Specifically, the entity shall:
 - (a) describe climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects;

- (b) explain, for each climate-related risk the entity has identified, whether the entity considers the risk to be a climate-related physical risk or climate-related transition risk;
- (c) specify, for each climate-related risk and opportunity the entity has identified, over which time horizons—short, medium or long term—the effects of each climate-related risk and opportunity could reasonably be expected to occur; and
- (d) explain how the entity defines 'short term', 'medium term' and 'long term' and how these definitions are linked to the planning horizons used by the entity for strategic decision-making.
- 11 In identifying the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects, the entity shall use all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort, including information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions.
- 12 [Deleted by the AASB]

Business model and value chain

- 13 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the current and anticipated effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's business model and value chain. Specifically, the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) a description of the current and anticipated effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's business model and value chain; and
 - (b) a description of where in the entity's business model and value chain climate-related risks and opportunities are concentrated (for example, geographical areas, facilities and types of assets).

Strategy and decision-making

- 14 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on its strategy and decision-making. Specifically, the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) information about how the entity has responded to, and plans to respond to, climate-related risks and opportunities in its strategy and decision-making, including how the entity plans to achieve any climate-related targets it has set and any targets it is required to meet by law or regulation. Specifically, the entity shall disclose information about:
 - current and anticipated changes to the entity's business model, including its resource allocation, to address climate-related risks and opportunities (for example, these changes could include plans to manage or decommission carbon-, energy- or water-intensive operations; resource allocations resulting from demand or supply-chain changes; resource allocations arising from business development through capital expenditure or additional expenditure on research and development; and acquisitions or divestments);
 - (ii) current and anticipated direct mitigation and adaptation efforts (for example, through changes in production processes or equipment, relocation of facilities, workforce adjustments, and changes in product specifications);
 - (iii) current and anticipated indirect mitigation and adaptation efforts (for example, through working with customers and supply chains);
 - (iv) any climate-related transition plan the entity has, including information about key assumptions used in developing its transition plan, and dependencies on which the entity's transition plan relies; and
 - (v) how the entity plans to achieve any climate-related targets, including any greenhouse gas emissions targets, described in accordance with paragraphs 33–36.
 - (b) information about how the entity is resourcing, and plans to resource, the activities disclosed in accordance with paragraph 14(a).
 - (c) quantitative and qualitative information about the progress of plans disclosed in previous reporting periods in accordance with paragraph 14(a).

Financial position, financial performance and cash flows

- 15 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand:
 - (a) the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows for the reporting period (current financial effects); and
 - (b) the anticipated effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows over the short, medium and long term, taking into consideration how climate-related risks and opportunities are included in the entity's financial planning (anticipated financial effects).
- 16 Specifically, an entity shall disclose quantitative and qualitative information about:
 - (a) how climate-related risks and opportunities have affected its financial position, financial performance and cash flows for the reporting period;
 - (b) the climate-related risks and opportunities identified in paragraph 16(a) for which there is a significant risk of a material adjustment within the next annual reporting period to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities reported in the related financial statements;
 - (c) how the entity expects its financial position to change over the short, medium and long term, given its strategy to manage climate-related risks and opportunities, taking into consideration:
 - (i) its investment and disposal plans (for example, plans for capital expenditure, major acquisitions and divestments, joint ventures, business transformation, innovation, new business areas, and asset retirements), including plans the entity is not contractually committed to; and
 - (ii) its planned sources of funding to implement its strategy; and
 - (d) how the entity expects its financial performance and cash flows to change over the short, medium and long term, given its strategy to manage climate-related risks and opportunities (for example, increased revenue from products and services aligned with a lower-carbon economy; costs arising from physical damage to assets from climate events; and expenses associated with climate adaptation or mitigation).
- 17 In providing quantitative information, an entity may disclose a single amount or a range.
- 18 In preparing disclosures about the anticipated financial effects of a climate-related risk or opportunity, an entity shall:
 - (a) use all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort; and
 - (b) use an approach that is commensurate with the skills, capabilities and resources that are available to the entity for preparing those disclosures.
- 19 An entity need not provide quantitative information about the current or anticipated financial effects of a climate-related risk or opportunity if the entity determines that:
 - (a) those effects are not separately identifiable; or
 - (b) the level of measurement uncertainty involved in estimating those effects is so high that the resulting quantitative information would not be useful.
- 20 In addition, an entity need not provide quantitative information about the anticipated financial effects of a climate-related risk or opportunity if the entity does not have the skills, capabilities or resources to provide that quantitative information.
- 21 If an entity determines that it need not provide quantitative information about the current or anticipated financial effects of a climate-related risk or opportunity applying the criteria set out in paragraphs 19–20, the entity shall:
 - (a) explain why it has not provided quantitative information;
 - (b) provide qualitative information about those financial effects, including identifying line items, totals and subtotals within the related financial statements that are likely to be affected, or have been affected, by that climate-related risk or opportunity; and
 - (c) provide quantitative information about the combined financial effects of that climate-related risk or opportunity with other climate-related risks or opportunities and other factors unless the entity determines that quantitative information about the combined financial effects would not be useful.

Climate resilience

- 22 An entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the resilience of the entity's strategy and business model to climate-related changes, developments and uncertainties, taking into consideration the entity's identified climate-related risks and opportunities. The entity shall use climate-related scenario analysis to assess its climate resilience using an approach that is commensurate with the entity's circumstances (see paragraphs B1–B18). In providing quantitative information, the entity may disclose a single amount or a range. Specifically, the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) the entity's assessment of its climate resilience as at the reporting date, which shall enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand:
 - (i) the implications, if any, of the entity's assessment for its strategy and business model, including how the entity would need to respond to the effects identified in the climate-related scenario analysis;
 - (ii) the significant areas of uncertainty considered in the entity's assessment of its climate resilience;
 - (iii) the entity's capacity to adjust or adapt its strategy and business model to climate change over the short, medium and long term, including;
 - the availability of, and flexibility in, the entity's existing financial resources to respond to the effects identified in the climate-related scenario analysis, including to address climate-related risks and to take advantage of climaterelated opportunities;
 - (2) the entity's ability to redeploy, repurpose, upgrade or decommission existing assets; and
 - (3) the effect of the entity's current and planned investments in climate-related mitigation, adaptation and opportunities for climate resilience; and
 - (b) how and when the climate-related scenario analysis was carried out, including:
 - (i) information about the inputs the entity used, including:
 - (1) which climate-related scenarios the entity used for the analysis and the sources of those scenarios;
 - (2) whether the analysis included a diverse range of climate-related scenarios;
 - (3) whether the climate-related scenarios used for the analysis are associated with climate-related transition risks or climate-related physical risks;
 - (4) whether the entity used, among its scenarios, a climate-related scenario aligned with the *latest international agreement on climate change*;
 - (5) why the entity decided that its chosen climate-related scenarios are relevant to assessing its resilience to climate-related changes, developments or uncertainties;
 - (6) the time horizons the entity used in the analysis; and
 - (7) what scope of operations the entity used in the analysis (for example, the operating locations and business units used in the analysis);
 - (ii) the key assumptions the entity made in the analysis, including assumptions about:
 - (1) climate-related policies in the jurisdictions in which the entity operates;
 - (2) macroeconomic trends;
 - national- or regional-level variables (for example, local weather patterns, demographics, land use, infrastructure and availability of natural resources);
 - (4) energy usage and mix; and
 - (5) developments in technology; and
 - (iii) the reporting period in which the climate-related scenario analysis was carried out (see paragraph B18).
- 23 [Deleted by the AASB]
- Aus23.1 In preparing disclosures to meet the requirements in paragraphs 13–22, an entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of cross-industry metric categories, as described in paragraph 29.

Risk management

- 24 The objective of climate-related financial disclosures on risk management is to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand an entity's processes to identify, assess, prioritise and monitor climate-related risks and opportunities, including whether and how those processes are integrated into and inform the entity's overall risk management process.
- 25 To achieve this objective, an entity shall disclose information about:
 - (a) the processes and related policies the entity uses to identify, assess, prioritise and monitor climaterelated risks, including information about:
 - (i) the inputs and parameters the entity uses (for example, information about data sources and the scope of operations covered in the processes);
 - (ii) whether and how the entity uses climate-related scenario analysis to inform its identification of climate-related risks;
 - (iii) how the entity assesses the nature, likelihood and magnitude of the effects of those risks (for example, whether the entity considers qualitative factors, quantitative thresholds or other criteria);
 - (iv) whether and how the entity prioritises climate-related risks relative to other types of risk;
 - (v) how the entity monitors climate-related risks; and
 - (vi) whether and how the entity has changed the processes it uses compared with the previous reporting period;
 - (b) the processes the entity uses to identify, assess, prioritise and monitor climate-related opportunities, including information about whether and how the entity uses climate-related scenario analysis to inform its identification of climate-related opportunities; and
 - (c) the extent to which, and how, the processes for identifying, assessing, prioritising and monitoring climate-related risks and opportunities are integrated into and inform the entity's overall risk management process.
- 26 In preparing disclosures to fulfil the requirements in paragraph 25, an entity shall avoid unnecessary duplication in accordance with Appendix D (see paragraph B42(b) in Appendix D). For example, although an entity shall provide the information required by paragraph 25, if oversight of sustainability-related risks and opportunities is managed on an integrated basis, the entity would avoid duplication by providing integrated risk management disclosures instead of separate disclosures for each sustainability-related risk and opportunity.
- Aus26.1 The requirement in paragraph 26 to avoid unnecessary duplication applies particularly if an entity elects to voluntarily apply AASB S1 to disclose information about other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in addition to climate-related risks and opportunities in general purpose financial reports.

Metrics and targets

- 27 The objective of climate-related financial disclosures on metrics and targets is to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand an entity's performance in relation to its climate-related risks and opportunities, including progress towards any climate-related targets it has set, and any targets it is required to meet by law or regulation.
- 28 To achieve this objective, an entity shall disclose:
 - (a) information relevant to the cross-industry metric categories (see paragraphs 29–31); and
 - (b) [deleted by the AASB]
 - (c) targets set by the entity, and any targets it is required to meet by law or regulation, to mitigate or adapt to climate-related risks or take advantage of climate-related opportunities, including metrics used by the governance body or management to measure progress towards these targets (see paragraphs 33–Aus37.1).

Climate-related metrics

- 29 An entity shall disclose information relevant to the cross-industry metric categories of:
 - (a) *greenhouse gases*—the entity shall:
 - (i) disclose its absolute gross greenhouse gas emissions generated during the reporting period, expressed as metric tonnes of CO_2 equivalent (see paragraphs B19–B22), classified as:
 - (1) *Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions;*
 - (2) *Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions*; and
 - (3) *Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions;*
 - measure its greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) unless required by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which the entity is listed to use a different method for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraphs B23–B25);
 - (iii) disclose the approach it uses to measure its greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraphs B26–B29) including:
 - (1) the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions the entity uses to measure its greenhouse gas emissions;
 - (2) the reason why the entity has chosen the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions it uses to measure its greenhouse gas emissions; and
 - (3) any changes the entity made to the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions during the reporting period and the reasons for those changes;
 - (iv) for Scope 1 and Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions disclosed in accordance with paragraph 29(a)(i)(1)–(2), disaggregate emissions between:
 - (1) the consolidated accounting group (for example, for an entity applying Australian Accounting Standards, this group would comprise the parent and its consolidated subsidiaries); and
 - (2) other investees excluded from paragraph 29(a)(iv)(1) (for example, for an entity applying Australian Accounting Standards, these investees would include associates, joint ventures and unconsolidated subsidiaries);
 - (v) for Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions disclosed in accordance with paragraph 29(a)(i)(2), disclose its location-based Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions, and provide information about any contractual instruments that is necessary to inform users' understanding of the entity's Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraphs B30–B31); and
 - (vi) for Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions disclosed in accordance with paragraph 29(a)(i)(3), and with reference to paragraphs B32–B57, disclose:
 - (1) the categories included within the entity's measure of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, in accordance with the *Scope 3 categories* described in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011); and
 - (2) additional information about the entity's Category 15 greenhouse gas emissions or those associated with its investments (*financed emissions*), if the entity's activities include asset management, commercial banking or insurance (see paragraphs B58–AusB63.1);
 - (b) climate-related transition risks—the amount and percentage of assets or business activities vulnerable to climate-related transition risks;
 - (c) climate-related physical risks—the amount and percentage of assets or business activities vulnerable to climate-related physical risks;
 - (d) climate-related opportunities—the amount and percentage of assets or business activities aligned with climate-related opportunities;
 - (e) capital deployment—the amount of capital expenditure, financing or investment deployed towards climate-related risks and opportunities;

- (f) *internal carbon prices*—the entity shall disclose:
 - (i) an explanation of whether and how the entity is applying a carbon price in decisionmaking (for example, investment decisions, transfer pricing and scenario analysis); and
 - (ii) the price for each metric tonne of greenhouse gas emissions the entity uses to assess the costs of its greenhouse gas emissions;
- (g) remuneration—the entity shall disclose:
 - (i) a description of whether and how climate-related considerations are factored into executive remuneration (see also paragraph 6(a)(v)); and
 - (ii) the percentage of executive management remuneration recognised in the current period that is linked to climate-related considerations.
- 30 In preparing disclosures to meet the requirements in paragraph 29(b)–(d), an entity shall use all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort.
- In preparing disclosures to meet the requirements in paragraph 29(b)–(g), an entity shall refer to paragraphs B64–B65.
- 32 [Deleted by the AASB]

Climate-related targets

- 33 An entity shall disclose the quantitative and qualitative climate-related targets it has set to monitor progress towards achieving its strategic goals, and any targets it is required to meet by law or regulation, including any greenhouse gas emissions targets. For each target, the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) the metric used to set the target (see paragraphs B66–AusB67.1);
 - (b) the objective of the target (for example, mitigation, adaptation or conformance with science-based initiatives);
 - (c) the part of the entity to which the target applies (for example, whether the target applies to the entity in its entirety or only a part of the entity, such as a specific business unit or specific geographical region);
 - (d) the period over which the target applies;
 - (e) the base period from which progress is measured;
 - (f) any milestones and interim targets;
 - (g) if the target is quantitative, whether it is an absolute target or an intensity target; and
 - (h) how the latest international agreement on climate change, including jurisdictional commitments that arise from that agreement, has informed the target.
- 34 An entity shall disclose information about its approach to setting and reviewing each target, and how it monitors progress against each target, including:
 - (a) whether the target and the methodology for setting the target has been validated by a third party;
 - (b) the entity's processes for reviewing the target;
 - (c) the metrics used to monitor progress towards reaching the target; and
 - (d) any revisions to the target and an explanation for those revisions.
- 35 An entity shall disclose information about its performance against each climate-related target and an analysis of trends or changes in the entity's performance.
- For each greenhouse gas emissions target disclosed in accordance with paragraphs 33–35, an entity shall disclose:
 - (a) which greenhouse gases are covered by the target.
 - (b) whether Scope 1, Scope 2 or Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions are covered by the target.
 - (c) whether the target is a gross greenhouse gas emissions target or net greenhouse gas emissions target. If the entity discloses a net greenhouse gas emissions target, the entity is also required to separately disclose its associated gross greenhouse gas emissions target (see paragraphs B68–B69).
 - (d) whether the target was derived using a sectoral decarbonisation approach.

- (e) the entity's planned use of *carbon credits* to offset greenhouse gas emissions to achieve any net greenhouse gas emissions target. In explaining its planned use of carbon credits the entity shall disclose information including, and with reference to paragraphs B70–B71:
 - (i) the extent to which, and how, achieving any net greenhouse gas emissions target relies on the use of carbon credits;
 - (ii) which third-party scheme(s) will verify or certify the carbon credits;
 - (iii) the type of carbon credit, including whether the underlying offset will be nature-based or based on technological carbon removals, and whether the underlying offset is achieved through carbon reduction or removal; and
 - (iv) any other factors necessary for users of general purpose financial reports to understand the credibility and integrity of the carbon credits the entity plans to use (for example, assumptions regarding the permanence of the carbon offset).
- 37 [Deleted by the AASB]
- Aus37.1 In identifying and disclosing the metrics used to set and monitor progress towards reaching a target described in paragraphs 33–34, an entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of cross-industry metrics (see paragraph 29).

Commencement of the legislative instrument

Aus37.2 For legal purposes, this legislative instrument commences on 31 December 2024.

Appendix A Defined terms

This appendix is an integral part of AASB S2 and has the same authority as the other parts of the Standard.

carbon credit	An emissions unit that is issued by a carbon crediting programme and represents an emission reduction or removal of greenhouse gases . Carbon credits are uniquely serialised, issued, tracked and cancelled by means of an electronic registry.
climate resilience	The capacity of an entity to adjust to climate-related changes, developments or uncertainties. Climate resilience involves the capacity to manage climate-related risks and benefit from climate-related opportunities , including the ability to respond and adapt to climate-related transition risks and climate-related physical risks . An entity's climate resilience includes both its strategic resilience and its operational resilience to climate-related changes, developments and uncertainties.
climate-related physical risks	Risks resulting from climate change that can be event-driven (acute physical risk) or from longer-term shifts in climatic patterns (chronic physical risk). Acute physical risks arise from weather-related events such as storms, floods, drought or heatwaves, which are increasing in severity and frequency. Chronic physical risks arise from longer-term shifts in climatic patterns including changes in precipitation and temperature which could lead to sea level rise, reduced water availability, biodiversity loss and changes in soil productivity.
	These risks could carry financial implications for an entity, such as costs resulting from direct damage to assets or indirect effects of supply-chain disruption. The entity's financial performance could also be affected by changes in water availability, sourcing and quality; and extreme temperature changes affecting the entity's premises, operations, supply chains, transportation needs and employee health and safety.
climate-related risks and opportunities	Climate-related risks refers to the potential negative effects of climate change on an entity. These risks are categorised as climate-related physical risks and climate-related transition risks .
	Climate-related opportunities refers to the potential positive effects arising from climate change for an entity. Efforts to mitigate and adapt to climate change can produce climate-related opportunities for an entity.
climate-related transition plan	An aspect of an entity's overall strategy that lays out the entity's targets, actions or resources for its transition towards a lower-carbon economy, including actions such as reducing its greenhouse gas emissions.
climate-related transition risks	Risks that arise from efforts to transition to a lower-carbon economy. Transition risks include policy, legal, technological, market and reputational risks. These risks could carry financial implications for an entity, such as increased operating costs or asset impairment due to new or amended climate-related regulations. The entity's financial performance could also be affected by shifting consumer demands and the development and deployment of new technology.
CO2 equivalent	The universal unit of measurement to indicate the <i>global warming potential</i> of each greenhouse gas , expressed in terms of the global warming potential of one unit of carbon dioxide. This unit is used to evaluate releasing (or avoiding releasing) different greenhouse gases against a common basis.
financed emissions	The portion of gross greenhouse gas emissions of an investee or counterparty attributed to the loans and investments made by an entity to the investee or counterparty. These emissions are part of Scope 3 Category 15 (investments) as defined in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011).
global warming potential	A factor describing the radiative forcing impact (degree of harm to the atmosphere) of one unit of a given greenhouse gas relative to one unit of CO_2 .

greenhouse gases	The seven greenhouse gases listed in the Kyoto Protocol—carbon dioxide (CO ₂); methane (CH ₄); nitrous oxide (N ₂ O); hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs); nitrogen trifluoride (NF ₃); perfluorocarbons (PFCs) and sulphur hexafluoride (SF ₆).		
indirect greenhouse gas emissions	Emissions that are a consequence of the activities of an entity, but occur at sources owned or controlled by another entity.		
internal carbon price	Price used by an entity to assess the financial implications of changes to investment, production and consumption patterns, and of potential technological progress and future emissions-abatement costs. An entity can use internal carbon prices for a range of business applications. Two types of internal carbon prices that an entity commonly uses are:		
	(a)	a shadow price, which is a theoretical cost or notional amount that the entity does not charge but that can be used to understand the economic implications or trade-offs for such things as risk impacts, new investments, the net present value of projects, and the cost and benefit of various initiatives; and	
	(b)	an internal tax or fee, which is a carbon price charged to a business activity, product line, or other business unit based on its greenhouse gas emissions (these internal taxes or fees are similar to intracompany transfer pricing).	
latest international agreement on climate change	An agreement by states, as members of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, to combat climate change (i.e. the Paris Agreement, December 2015). The agreements set norms and targets for a reduction in greenhouse gases .		
Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions	Direct greenhouse gas emissions that occur from sources that are owned or controlled by an entity.		
Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions		<i>greenhouse gas emissions</i> from the generation of purchased or acquired <i>y</i> , steam, heating or cooling consumed by an entity.	
	into an e	d and acquired electricity is electricity that is purchased or otherwise brought ntity's boundary. Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions physically occur at the here electricity is generated.	
Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions	Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (not included in Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions) that occur in the value chain of an entity, including both upstream and downstream emissions. Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions include the Scope 3 categories in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011).		
Scope 3 categories	Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions are categorised into these 15 categories—as described in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011):		
	(1)	purchased goods and services;	
	(2)	capital goods;	
	(3)	fuel- and energy-related activities not included in Scope 1 greenhouse gas emissions or Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions;	
	(4)	upstream transportation and distribution;	
	(5)	waste generated in operations;	
	(6)	business travel;	
	(7)	employee commuting;	
	(8)	upstream leased assets;	
	(9)	downstream transportation and distribution;	
	(10)	processing of sold products;	
	(11)	use of sold products;	
	(12)	end-of-life treatment of sold products;	
	(13)	downstream leased assets;	

- (14) franchises; and
- (15) investments.

Terms defined in other Standards and used in this Standard with the same meaning

business model	An entity's system of transforming inputs through its activities into outputs and outcomes that aims to fulfil the entity's strategic purposes and create value for the entity and hence generate cash flows over the short, medium and long term.		
disclosure topic	[Deleted by the AASB]		
general purpose financial reports	Reports that provide financial information about a reporting entity that is useful to primary users in making decisions relating to providing resources to the entity. Those decisions involve decisions about:		
	(a) buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments;		
	(b) providing or selling loans and other forms of credit; or		
	(c) exercising rights to vote on, or otherwise influence, the entity's management's actions that affect the use of the entity's economic resources.		
	General purpose financial reports include—but are not restricted to—an entity's general purpose financial statements and sustainability-related financial disclosures.		
impracticable	Applying a requirement is impracticable when an entity cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.		
primary users of general purpose financial reports (primary users)	Existing and potential investors, lenders and other creditors.		
value chain	The full range of interactions, resources and relationships related to a reporting entity's business model and the external environment in which it operates.		
	A value chain encompasses the interactions, resources and relationships an entity uses and depends on to create its products or services from conception to delivery, consumption and end-of-life, including interactions, resources and relationships in the entity's operations, such as human resources; those along its supply, marketing and distribution channels, such as materials and service sourcing, and product and service sale and delivery; and the financing, geographical, geopolitical and regulatory environments in which the entity operates.		

Australian-specific terms

- AusA1 Notwithstanding the general definitions in the above table, in respect of not-for-profit entities the following terms are described in the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* (as amended to March 2020) and are used in this Standard with the meaning specified in that conceptual framework:
 - (a) general purpose financial reports; and
 - (b) primary users of general purpose financial reports (primary users, users of general purpose financial reports, users).

Appendix B Application guidance

This appendix is an integral part of AASB S2 and has the same authority as the other parts of the Standard.

Climate resilience (paragraph 22)

- B1 Paragraph 22 requires an entity to use climate-related scenario analysis to assess its climate resilience, using an approach that is commensurate with its circumstances.² The entity is required to use an approach to climaterelated scenario analysis that enables it to consider all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. Paragraphs B2–B18 provide guidance on how an entity uses scenario analysis to assess the entity's climate resilience. Specifically:
 - (a) paragraphs B2–B7 set out the factors the entity shall consider when assessing its circumstances;
 - (b) paragraphs B8–B15 set out the factors the entity shall consider when determining an appropriate approach to climate-related scenario analysis; and
 - (c) paragraphs B16–B18 set out additional factors for the entity to consider when determining its approach to climate-related scenario analysis over time.

Assessing the circumstances

- B2 An entity shall use an approach to climate-related scenario analysis that is commensurate with its circumstances as at the time the entity carries out its climate-related scenario analysis (see paragraph B3). To assess its circumstances the entity shall consider:
 - (a) the entity's exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities (see paragraphs B4–B5); and
 - (b) the skills, capabilities and resources available to the entity for the climate-related scenario analysis (see paragraphs B6–B7).
- B3 An entity shall assess its circumstances each time it carries out its climate-related scenario analysis. For example, an entity that carries out its climate-related scenario analysis every three years to align with its strategic planning cycle (see paragraph B18) would be required to reconsider for this purpose its exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities and the skills, capabilities and resources available at that time.

Exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities

- B4 An entity shall consider its exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities in its assessment of its circumstances and when determining the approach to use for its climate-related scenario analysis. This consideration provides essential context for understanding the potential benefits of using a particular approach to climate-related scenario analysis. For example, if an entity has a high degree of exposure to climate-related risk then a more quantitative or technically sophisticated approach to climate-related scenario analysis would be of greater benefit to the entity and users of general purpose financial reports. Users of general purpose financial reports would be less likely to benefit from quantitative or technically sophisticated climate-related scenario analysis if the entity is exposed to few or relatively less severe climate-related risks and opportunities. This means that—with all else being equal—the greater the entity's exposure to climate-related risks or opportunities, the more likely it is the entity would determine that a more technically sophisticated form of climate-related scenario analysis is required.
- B5 This Standard requires an entity to identify the climate-related risks and opportunities to which it is exposed (see paragraph 10) and to disclose information about the process the entity uses to identify, assess, prioritise and monitor those risks and opportunities (see paragraph 25). The information the entity discloses in accordance with paragraphs 10 and 25 can inform the entity's consideration of its exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities.

² This application guidance (paragraphs B1–B18) draws on the range of practice outlined in documents published by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), including *Technical Supplement: The Use of Scenario Analysis in Disclosure of Climaterelated Risks and Opportunities* (2017) and *Guidance on Scenario Analysis for Non-Financial Companies* (2020).

Skills, capabilities and resources available

- B6 An entity shall consider the available skills, capabilities and resources when determining an appropriate approach to use for its climate-related scenario analysis. These skills, capabilities and resources might include both internal and external skills, capabilities and resources. The entity's available skills, capabilities and resources provide context to inform its consideration of the potential cost and level of effort required by a particular approach to climate-related scenario analysis. For example, if an entity has only just begun to explore the use of climate-related scenario analysis to assess its climate resilience, it might be unable to use a quantitative or technically sophisticated approach to climate-related scenario analysis without undue cost or effort. For the avoidance of doubt, if resources are available to the entity then it will be able to invest in obtaining or developing the necessary skills and capabilities.
- B7 Climate-related scenario analysis can be resource intensive and might—through an iterative learning process—be developed and refined over multiple planning cycles. As an entity repeats the climate-related scenario analysis, it is likely to develop skills and capabilities that will enable the entity to strengthen its approach to climate-related scenario analysis over time. For example, if an entity has not yet used climate-related scenario analysis or participates in an industry where climate-related scenario analysis is not commonly used, the entity might need more time to develop its skills and capabilities. In contrast, an entity in an industry where climate-related scenario analysis is established practice—such as extractives and mineral processing—would be expected to have strengthened its skills and capabilities through its experience.

Determining the appropriate approach

- B8 An entity shall determine an approach to climate-related scenario analysis that enables it to consider all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. The determination of the approach shall be informed by the assessments of the entity's exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities (see paragraphs B4–B5) and its available skills, capabilities and resources (see paragraphs B6–B7). Making such a determination involves:
 - (a) selecting inputs to the climate-related scenario analysis (see paragraphs B11–B13); and
 - (b) making analytical choices about how to carry out the climate-related scenario analysis (see paragraphs B14–B15).
- B9 Reasonable and supportable information includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. It also includes quantitative or qualitative information, and information that is obtained from an external source or owned or developed internally.
- B10 An entity will need to use judgement to determine the mix of inputs and analytical choices that will enable the entity to consider all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. The degree of judgement that is required depends on the availability of detailed information. As the time horizon increases and the availability of detailed information decreases, the degree of judgement required increases.

Selecting inputs

- B11 When an entity selects the inputs to use in its climate-related scenario analysis, the entity shall consider all reasonable and supportable information—including scenarios, variables and other inputs—available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. The inputs used in scenario analysis might include information that is qualitative or quantitative, and is obtained from an external source or developed internally. For example, publicly available climate-related scenarios—from authoritative sources—that describe future trends and a range of pathways to plausible outcomes are considered to be available to the entity without undue cost or effort.
- B12 When selecting scenarios, variables and other inputs to use in climate-related scenario analysis, an entity might, for example, use one or more climate-related scenarios—including international and regional scenarios—that are publicly and freely available from authoritative sources. The entity shall have a reasonable and supportable basis for using a particular scenario or set of scenarios. For example, an entity with operations concentrated in a jurisdiction where emissions are regulated—or are likely to be regulated in the future— might determine that it is appropriate to carry out its analysis using a scenario consistent with an orderly transition to a lower-carbon economy or consistent with relevant jurisdictional commitments to the latest international agreement on climate change. Elsewhere, for example, an entity with heightened exposure to physical climate-related risks might determine that it is appropriate to carry out its analysis using a localised climate-related scenario that takes into account current policies.
- B13 In considering whether the selected inputs are reasonable and supportable, an entity shall consider the objective of paragraph 22, which requires the entity to disclose information that enables users of general

purpose financial reports to understand the resilience of the entity's strategy and business model to climaterelated changes, developments and uncertainties, taking into consideration the entity's identified climaterelated risks and opportunities. This means that the inputs to the entity's climate-related scenario analysis shall be relevant to the entity's circumstances, for example, to the particular activities the entity undertakes and the geographical location of those activities.

Making analytical choices

- B14 An entity's resilience assessment will be informed not only by the individual inputs to its climate-related scenario analysis, but also by the information it develops in combining those inputs to carry out the analysis. The entity shall prioritise the analytical choices (for example, whether to use qualitative analysis or quantitative modelling) that will enable it to consider all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort. For example, if an entity is able—without undue cost or effort—to incorporate multiple carbon price pathways associated with a given outcome (for example, a 1.5 degree Celsius outcome), this analysis is likely to strengthen the entity's resilience assessment, assuming such an approach is warranted by the entity's risk exposure.
- B15 Quantitative information will often enable an entity to carry out a more robust assessment of its climate resilience. However, qualitative information (including scenario narratives), either alone or combined with quantitative data, can also provide a reasonable and supportable basis for the entity's resilience assessment.

Additional considerations

- B16 Climate-related scenario analysis is an evolving practice and, therefore, the approach that an entity uses is likely to change over time. As described in paragraphs B2–B7, the entity shall determine its approach to climate-related scenario analysis based on its particular circumstances, including the entity's exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities and the skills, capabilities and resources available for the scenario analysis. Those circumstances are also likely to change over time. Therefore, the entity's approach to climaterelated scenario analysis need not be the same from one reporting period or strategic planning cycle to the next (see paragraph B18).
- B17 An entity might use a simpler approach to climate-related scenario analysis, such as qualitative scenario narratives, if such an approach is appropriate to the entity's circumstances. For example, if an entity does not currently have the skills, capabilities or resources to carry out quantitative climate-related scenario analysis but has a high degree of exposure to climate-related risk, the entity might initially use a simpler approach to climate-related scenario analysis, but would build its capabilities through experience and, therefore, would apply a more advanced quantitative approach to climate-related scenario analysis over time. An entity with a high degree of exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities, and with access to the necessary skills, capabilities or resources, is required to apply a more advanced quantitative approach to climate-related scenario analysis.
- B18 Although paragraph 22 requires an entity to disclose information about its climate resilience at each reporting date, the entity might carry out its climate-related scenario analysis in line with its strategic planning cycle, including a multi-year strategic planning cycle (for example, every three to five years). Therefore, in some reporting periods the entity's disclosures in accordance with paragraph 22(b) could remain unchanged from the previous reporting period if the entity does not conduct a scenario analysis annually. The entity shall—at a minimum—update its climate-related scenario analysis in line with its strategic planning cycle. However, an assessment of the entity's resilience is required to be carried out annually to reflect updated insight into the implications of climate uncertainty for the entity's business model and strategy. As such, an entity's disclosure in accordance with paragraph 22(a)—that is, the results of the entity's resilience assessment—shall be updated at each reporting period.

Greenhouse gases (paragraph 29(a))

Greenhouse gas emissions

Permission to use information from a reporting period that is different from the entity's reporting period, in specific circumstances

B19 An entity might have a different reporting period from some or all of the entities in its value chain. Such a difference would mean that greenhouse gas emissions information from these entities in its value chain for the entity's reporting period might not be readily available for the entity to use for its own disclosure. In such circumstances, the entity is permitted to measure its greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with

paragraph 29(a)(i) using information for reporting periods that are different from its own reporting period if that information is obtained from entities in its value chain with reporting periods that are different from the entity's reporting period, on the condition that:

- (a) the entity uses the most recent data available from those entities in its value chain without undue cost or effort to measure and disclose its greenhouse gas emissions;
- (b) the length of the reporting periods is the same; and
- (c) the entity discloses the effects of significant events and changes in circumstances (relevant to its greenhouse gas emissions) that occur between the reporting dates of the entities in its value chain and the date of the entity's general purpose financial reports.

Aggregation of greenhouse gases into CO₂ equivalent using global warming potential values

- B20 Paragraph 29(a) requires an entity to disclose its absolute gross greenhouse gas emissions generated during the reporting period, expressed as metric tonnes of CO₂ equivalent. To meet this requirement, the entity shall aggregate the seven constituent greenhouse gases into CO₂ equivalent values.
- B21 If an entity uses direct measurement to measure its greenhouse gas emissions, the entity is required to convert the seven constituent greenhouse gases into a CO₂ equivalent value using global warming potential values based on a 100-year time horizon, from the latest Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change assessment available at the reporting date.
- B22 If an entity uses emission factors to estimate its greenhouse gas emissions, the entity shall use—as its basis for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions—the emission factors that best represent the entity's activity (see paragraph B29). If these emission factors have already converted the constituent gases into CO₂ equivalent values, the entity is not required to recalculate the emission factors using global warming potential values based on a 100-year time horizon from the latest Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change assessment available at the reporting date. However, if an entity uses emission factors that are not converted into CO₂ equivalent values, then the entity shall use the global warming potential values based on a 100-year time horizon from the latest Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change assessment available at the reporting date.
- AusB22.1 For the purposes of paragraphs B21 and B22, the latest Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change assessment available at the reporting date means the Panel's Sixth Assessment Report.

Greenhouse Gas Protocol

- B23 Paragraph 29(a)(ii) requires an entity to disclose its greenhouse gas emissions measured in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004). For the avoidance of doubt, an entity shall apply the requirements in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) only to the extent that they do not conflict with the requirements in this Standard. For example, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) does not require an entity to disclose its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, however, the entity is required to disclose Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with paragraph 29(a).
- B24 An entity is required to use the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) unless the entity is required by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which it is listed to use a different method for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions. If the entity is required by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which it is listed to use a different method for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions, the entity is permitted to use this method rather than using the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) for as long as the jurisdictional or exchange requirement applies to the entity.
- B25 In some circumstances, an entity might be subject to a requirement in the jurisdiction in which it operates to disclose its greenhouse gas emissions for a specific part of the entity or for some of its greenhouse gas emissions (for example, only for Scope 1 and Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions). In such circumstances, the jurisdictional requirement does not exempt the entity from applying the requirements in this Standard to disclose the entity's Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions for the entity as a whole.

Measurement approach, inputs and assumptions

B26 Paragraph 29(a)(iii) requires an entity to disclose the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions it uses to measure its greenhouse gas emissions. As part of this requirement, the entity shall include information about:

- (a) the measurement approach the entity uses in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) (see paragraph B27);
- (b) the applicable method if the entity is not using the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) and the measurement approach the entity uses (see paragraph B28); and
- (c) the emission factors the entity uses (see paragraph B29).

The measurement approach set out in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol

- B27 The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) includes different measurement approaches that an entity might use when measuring its greenhouse gas emissions. In disclosing information in accordance with paragraph 29(a)(iii), the entity is required to disclose information about the measurement approach it uses. For example, when the entity discloses its greenhouse gas emissions measured in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004), the entity is required to use the equity share or control approach. Specifically, the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) the approach it uses to determine its greenhouse gas emissions (for example, the equity share or control approach in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004)); and
 - (b) the reason, or reasons, for the entity's choice of measurement approach and how that approach relates to the disclosure objective in paragraph 27.

Other methods and measurement approaches

- B28 When an entity discloses its greenhouse gas emissions measured in accordance with another method, applying paragraphs 29(a)(ii), B24–B25 or C4(a), the entity shall disclose:
 - (a) the applicable method and measurement approach the entity uses to determine its greenhouse gas emissions; and
 - (b) the reason, or reasons, for the entity's choice of method and measurement approach and how that approach relates to the disclosure objective in paragraph 27.

Emission factors

B29 As part of an entity's disclosure of the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions, the entity shall disclose information to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand which emission factors the entity uses in its measurement of its greenhouse gas emissions. This Standard does not specify emission factors an entity is required to use in its measurement of its greenhouse gas emissions. Instead, this Standard requires an entity to use emission factors that best represent the entity's activity as its basis for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions.

Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions

- B30 Paragraph 29(a)(v) requires an entity to disclose its location-based Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions and provide information about any contractual instruments the entity has entered into that could inform users' understanding of the entity's Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions. For the avoidance of doubt, an entity is required to disclose its Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions using a location-based approach and is required to provide information about contractual instruments only if such instruments exist and information about them informs users' understanding of an entity's Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions.
- B31 Contractual instruments are any type of contract between an entity and another party for the sale and purchase of energy bundled with attributes about the energy generation or for unbundled energy attribute claims (unbundled energy attribute claims relate to the sale and purchase of energy that is separate and distinct from the greenhouse gas attribute contractual instruments). Various types of contractual instruments are available in different markets and the entity might disclose information about its market-based Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions as part of its disclosure.

Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions

B32 In accordance with paragraph 29(a)(vi), an entity shall disclose information about its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the source of these emissions. The entity shall consider its entire value chain (upstream and downstream) and shall consider all 15 categories of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, as described in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011). In accordance with paragraph 29(a)(vi), the entity shall disclose which of these categories are included in its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions disclosures.

- B33 For the avoidance of doubt, regardless of the method an entity uses to measure its greenhouse gas emissions, the entity is required to disclose the categories included within its measure of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions as described in paragraph 29(a)(vi)(1).
- B34 On the occurrence of a significant event or a significant change in circumstances, an entity shall reassess the scope of all affected climate-related risks and opportunities throughout its value chain, including reassessing which Scope 3 categories and entities throughout its value chain to include in the measurement of its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions. A significant event or significant change in circumstances can occur without the entity being involved in that event or change in circumstances or as a result of a change in what the entity assesses to be important to users of general purpose financial reports. For example, such significant events or significant changes in circumstances might include:
 - (a) a significant change in the entity's value chain (for example, a supplier in the entity's value chain makes a change that significantly alters the supplier's greenhouse gas emissions);
 - (b) a significant change in the entity's business model, activities or corporate structure (for example, a merger or acquisition that expands the entity's value chain); and
 - (c) a significant change in the entity's exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities (for example, a supplier in the entity's value chain is affected by the introduction of an emissions regulation that the entity had not anticipated).
- B35 An entity is permitted, but not required, to reassess the scope of any climate-related risk or opportunity throughout its value chain more frequently than required by paragraph B34.
- B36 To determine the scope of the value chain, which includes its breadth and composition, an entity shall use all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort.
- B37 An entity that participates in one or more financial activities associated with asset management, commercial banking and insurance shall disclose additional information about the financed emissions associated with those activities as part of the entity's disclosure of its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraphs B58–AusB63.1).

Scope 3 measurement framework

- B38 An entity's measurement of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions is likely to include the use of estimation rather than solely comprising direct measurement. In measuring Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions an entity shall use a measurement approach, inputs and assumptions that result in a faithful representation of this measurement. The measurement framework described in paragraphs B40–B54 provides guidance for an entity to use in preparing its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions disclosures.
- B39 An entity is required to use all reasonable and supportable information that is available to the entity at the reporting date without undue cost or effort when the entity selects the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions it uses in measuring Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions.
- B40 An entity's measurement of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions relies upon a range of inputs. This Standard does not specify the inputs the entity is required to use to measure its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, but does require the entity to prioritise inputs and assumptions using these identifying characteristics (which are listed in no particular order):
 - (a) data based on direct measurement (paragraphs B43–B45);
 - (b) data from specific activities within the entity's value chain (paragraphs B46–B49);
 - (c) timely data that faithfully represents the jurisdiction of, and the technology used for, the value chain activity and its greenhouse gas emissions (paragraphs B50–B52); and
 - (d) data that has been verified (paragraphs B53–B54).
- B41 An entity is required to apply the Scope 3 measurement framework to prioritise inputs and assumptions even when the entity is required by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which the entity is listed to use a method other than the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraphs B24–B25), or whether the entity uses the transition relief described in paragraph C4(a).
- B42 An entity's prioritisation of the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions and the entity's considerations of associated trade-offs—based on the characteristics in paragraph B40—requires management to apply judgement. For example, an entity might need to consider the trade-offs between timely data and data that is

more representative of the jurisdiction and technology used for the value chain activity and its emissions. More recent data might provide less detail about the specific activity, including the technology that was used in the value chain and the location of that activity. On the other hand, older data that is published infrequently might be considered more representative of the specific activity and its greenhouse gas emissions.

Data based on direct measurement

- B43 Two methods are used to quantify Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions: direct measurement and estimation. Of these two methods—and with all else being equal—an entity shall prioritise direct measurement.
- B44 'Direct measurement' refers to the direct monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions and, in theory, provides the most accurate evidence. However, it is expected that Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions data will include estimation due to the challenges associated with direct measurement of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions.
- B45 Estimation of Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions involves approximate calculations of data based on assumptions and appropriate inputs. An entity that measures its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions using estimation is likely to use two types of input:
 - (a) data that represents the entity's activity that results in greenhouse gas emissions (activity data). For example, the entity might use distance travelled as activity data to represent the transport of goods within its value chain.
 - (b) emission factors that convert activity data into greenhouse gas emissions. For example, the entity will convert the distance travelled (activity data) into greenhouse gas emissions data using emission factors.

Data from specific activities within the entity's value chain

- B46 An entity's measurement of its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions will be based on data obtained directly from specific activities within the entity's value chain (primary data), data not obtained directly from activities within the entity's value chain (secondary data), or a combination of both.
- B47 In measuring an entity's Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, primary data is more likely to be representative of the entity's value chain activity and its greenhouse gas emissions than secondary data. Therefore, the entity shall prioritise—with all else being equal—the use of primary data.
- B48 Primary data for Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions includes data provided by suppliers or other entities in the value chain related to specific activities in an entity's value chain. For example, primary data could be sourced from meter readings, utility bills or other methods that represent specific activities in the entity's value chain. Primary data could be collected internally (for example, through the entity's own records), or externally from suppliers and other value chain partners (for example, supplier-specific emission factors for purchased goods or services). Data from specific activities within an entity's value chain provides a more accurate representation of the entity's specific value chain activities and, therefore, will provide a better basis for measuring the entity's Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions.
- B49 Secondary data for Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions is data that is not obtained directly from specific activities within an entity's value chain. Secondary data is often supplied by third-party data providers and includes industry-average data (for example, from published databases, government statistics, literature studies and industry associations). Secondary data includes data used to approximate the activity or emission factors. Additionally, secondary data includes primary data from a specific activity (proxy data) used to estimate greenhouse gas emissions for another activity. If an entity uses secondary data to measure its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, it shall consider the extent to which the data faithfully represents the entity's activities.

Timely data that faithfully represents the jurisdiction of, and the technology used for, the value chain activity and its greenhouse gas emissions

- B50 If an entity uses secondary data, it shall prioritise the use of activity or emissions data that is based on, or represents, the technology used in the value chain activity the data is intended to represent. For example, an entity might obtain primary data from its activities (for example, the specific aircraft model, distance travelled and travel-class used by employees when travelling) and would then use secondary data that represents the greenhouse gas emissions arising from those activities to convert the primary data into an estimate of its greenhouse gas emissions from air travel.
- B51 If an entity uses secondary data, it shall prioritise activity or emissions data that is based on, or represents, the jurisdiction in which the activity happened. For example, an entity shall prioritise emission factors that relate to the jurisdiction in which the entity operates or in which the activity has taken place.

B52 If an entity uses secondary data, it shall prioritise activity or emissions data that is timely and representative of the entity's value chain activity during the reporting period. In some jurisdictions, and for some technologies, secondary data is collected annually and, therefore, the data is likely to be representative of the entity's current practice. However, some secondary data sources rely on information collected in a reporting period that is different from the entity's own reporting period.

Verified data

- B53 An entity shall prioritise Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions data that is verified. Verification can provide users of general purpose financial reports with confidence that the information is complete, neutral and accurate.
- B54 Verified data might include data that has been internally or externally verified. Verification can take place in several ways, including on-site checking, reviewing calculations, or cross-checking of data against other sources. However, in some cases an entity might be unable to verify its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions without undue cost or effort. For example, the entity might be prevented from obtaining a complete set of verified data due to the volume of data or because the data is obtained from entities in the value chain that are separated by many tiers from the reporting entity, that is, entities that the reporting entity does not interact with directly. In such cases, an entity might need to use unverified data.

Disclosure of inputs to Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions

- B55 An entity shall disclose information about the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions it uses to measure its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with paragraph 29(a)(iii). This disclosure shall include information about the characteristics of the data inputs as described in paragraph B40. The purpose of this disclosure is to provide users of general purpose financial reports with information about how the entity has prioritised the highest quality data available, which faithfully represents the value chain activity and its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions. This disclosure also helps users of general purpose financial reports to understand why the measurement approach, inputs and assumptions the entity uses to estimate its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions are relevant.
- B56 As part of the requirement in paragraph 29(a)(iii), and to reflect how an entity prioritises Scope 3 data in accordance with the measurement framework set out in paragraphs B40–B54, the entity shall disclose information that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand:
 - (a) the extent to which the entity's Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions are measured using inputs from specific activities within the entity's value chain; and
 - (b) the extent to which the entity's Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions are measured using inputs that are verified.
- B57 This Standard includes the presumption that Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions can be estimated reliably using secondary data and industry averages. In those rare cases when an entity determines it is *impracticable* to estimate its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions, the entity shall disclose how it is managing its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions. Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.

Financed emissions

- B58 Entities participating in financial activities face risks and opportunities related to the greenhouse gas emissions associated with those activities. Counterparties, borrowers or investees with higher greenhouse gas emissions might be susceptible to risks associated with technological changes, shifts in supply and demand and policy change, which in turn can affect the financial institution that is providing financial services to these entities. These risks and opportunities can arise in the form of credit risk, market risk, reputational risk and other financial and operational risks. For example, credit risk might arise in relation to financing clients affected by increasingly stringent carbon taxes, fuel efficiency regulations or other policies; credit risk might also arise through technological shifts. Reputational risk might arise from financing fossil-fuel projects. Entities participating in financial activities, including commercial and investment banks, asset managers and insurance entities, are increasingly monitoring and managing such risks by measuring their financed emissions. This measurement serves as an indicator of an entity's exposure to climate-related risks and opportunities and how the entity might need to adapt its financial activities over time.
- B59 Paragraph 29 (a)(i)(3) requires an entity to disclose its absolute gross Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions generated during the reporting period, including upstream and downstream emissions. An entity that participates in one or more of the following financial activities is required to disclose additional and specific information about its Category 15 emissions or those emissions associated with its investments which is also known as 'financed emissions':

- (a) asset management (see paragraph B61);
- (b) commercial banking (see paragraph B62); and
- (c) insurance (see paragraph B63).
- B60 An entity shall apply the requirements for disclosing greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with paragraph 29(a) when disclosing information about its financed emissions.

Asset management

- B61 An entity that participates in asset management activities shall disclose:
 - (a) its absolute gross financed emissions, disaggregated by Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions.
 - (b) for each of the disaggregated items in paragraph B61(a), the total amount of assets under management (AUM) that is included in the financed emissions disclosure, expressed in the presentation currency of the entity's financial statements.
 - (c) the percentage of the entity's total AUM included in the financed emissions calculation. If the percentage is less than 100%, the entity shall disclose information that explains the exclusions, including types of assets and associated amount of AUM.
 - (d) the methodology used to calculate the financed emissions, including the method of allocation the entity used to attribute its share of emissions in relation to the size of investments.

Commercial banking

- B62 An entity that participates in commercial banking activities shall disclose:
 - (a) its absolute gross financed emissions, disaggregated by Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions for each industry by asset class. When disaggregating by:
 - (i) industry—the entity shall use the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) 6-digit industry-level code for classifying counterparties, reflecting the latest version of the classification system available at the reporting date.
 - (ii) asset class—the disclosure shall include loans, project finance, bonds, equity investments and undrawn loan commitments. If the entity calculates and discloses financed emissions for other asset classes, it shall include an explanation of why the inclusion of those additional asset classes provides relevant information to users of general purpose financial reports.
 - (b) its gross exposure to each industry by asset class, expressed in the presentation currency of the entity's financial statements. For:
 - (i) funded amounts—gross exposure shall be calculated as the funded carrying amounts (before subtracting the loss allowance, when applicable), whether prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards or other GAAP.
 - (ii) undrawn loan commitments—the entity shall disclose the full amount of the commitment separately from the drawn portion of loan commitments.
 - (c) the percentage of the entity's gross exposure included in the financed emissions calculation. The entity shall:
 - (i) if the percentage of the entity's gross exposure included in the financed emissions calculation is less than 100%, disclose information that explains the exclusions, including the type of assets excluded.
 - (ii) for funded amounts, exclude from gross exposure all impacts of risk mitigants, if applicable.
 - (iii) disclose separately the percentage of its undrawn loan commitments included in the financed emissions calculation.
 - (d) the methodology the entity used to calculate its financed emissions, including the method of allocation the entity used to attribute its share of emissions in relation to the size of its gross exposure.

Insurance

- B63 An entity that participates in financial activities associated with the insurance industry shall disclose:
 - (a) its absolute gross financed emissions, disaggregated by Scope 1, Scope 2 and Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions for each industry by asset class. When disaggregating by:
 - (i) industry—the entity shall use the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) 6-digit industry-level code for classifying counterparties, reflecting the latest version of the classification system available at the reporting date.
 - (ii) asset class—the disclosure shall include loans, bonds and equity investments, as well as undrawn loan commitments. If the entity calculates and discloses financed emissions for other asset classes, it shall include an explanation of why the inclusion of those additional asset classes provides relevant information to users of general purpose financial reports.
 - (b) the gross exposure for each industry by asset class, expressed in the presentation currency of the entity's financial statements. For:
 - (i) funded amounts—gross exposure shall be calculated as the funded carrying amounts (before subtracting the loss allowance, when applicable), whether prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards or other GAAP.
 - (ii) undrawn loan commitments—the entity shall disclose the full amount of the commitment separately from the drawn portion of loan commitments.
 - (c) the percentage of the entity's gross exposure included in the financed emissions calculation. The entity shall:
 - (i) if the percentage of the entity's gross exposure included in the financed emissions calculation is less than 100%, disclose information that explains the exclusions, including type of assets excluded.
 - (ii) disclose separately the percentage of its undrawn loan commitments included in the financed emissions calculation.
 - (d) the methodology the entity used to calculate its financed emissions, including the method of allocation the entity used to attribute its share of emissions in relation to the size of its gross exposure.
- AusB63.1 For the purposes of paragraphs B62(a)(i) and B63(a)(i), the latest version of the Global Industry Classification Standard (GICS) available at the reporting date means the version that incorporates amendments to August 2024.

Cross-industry metric categories (paragraph 29(b)–(g))

- B64 In addition to information about an entity's greenhouse gas emissions, the entity is required to disclose information relevant to the cross-industry metric categories set out in paragraph 29(b)–(g).
- B65 In preparing disclosures to fulfil the requirements in paragraph 29(b)–(g), an entity shall:
 - (a) consider the time horizons over which the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities could reasonably be expected to occur, described in accordance with paragraph 10.
 - (b) consider where in the entity's business model and value chain climate-related risks and opportunities are concentrated (for example, geographical areas, facilities or types of assets) (see paragraph 13).
 - (c) consider the information disclosed in accordance with paragraph 16(a)–(b) in relation to the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's financial position, financial performance and cash flows for the reporting period.
 - (d) [deleted by the AASB]
 - (e) consider the connections between the information disclosed to fulfil the requirements in paragraph 29(b)–(g) with the information disclosed in the related financial statements, in accordance with paragraph 21(b)(ii) of Appendix D. These connections include consistency in the data and assumptions used—to the extent possible—and linkages between the amounts disclosed in accordance with paragraph 29(b)–(g) and the amounts recognised and disclosed in the financial statements. For example, an entity would consider whether the carrying amount of assets used is

consistent with amounts included in the financial statements and would explain the connections between information in these disclosures and amounts in the financial statements.

Climate-related targets (paragraphs 33–Aus37.1)

Characteristics of a climate-related target

B66 Paragraph 33 requires an entity to disclose the quantitative or qualitative climate-related targets it has set, and any it is required to meet by law or regulation, including any greenhouse gas emissions targets. In disclosing these climate-related targets, the entity is required to disclose information about the characteristics of these targets as described in paragraph 33(a)–(h). If the climate-related target is quantitative, an entity is required to describe whether the target is an absolute target or an intensity target. An absolute target is defined as a total amount of a measure or a change in the total amount of a measure, whereas an intensity target is defined as a ratio of a measure, or a change in the ratio of a measure, to a business metric.

B67 [Deleted by the AASB]

AusB67.1 In identifying and disclosing the metric used to set a climate-related target and measure progress, an entity shall consider the cross-industry metrics. If the metric has been developed by the entity to measure progress towards a target, the entity shall disclose information about that metric in accordance with paragraph 50 of Appendix D.

Greenhouse gas emissions targets

Gross and net greenhouse gas emissions targets

- B68 If an entity has a greenhouse gas emissions target, the entity is required to specify whether the target is a gross greenhouse gas emissions target or a net greenhouse gas emissions target. Gross greenhouse gas emissions targets reflect the total changes in greenhouse gas emissions planned within the entity's value chain. Net greenhouse gas emissions targets are the entity's targeted gross greenhouse gas emissions minus any planned offsetting efforts (for example, the entity's planned use of carbon credits to offset its greenhouse gas emissions).
- B69 Paragraph 36(c) specifies that if an entity has a net greenhouse gas emissions target it is required to also disclose a gross greenhouse gas emissions target. For the avoidance of doubt, if the entity discloses a net greenhouse gas emissions target, this target cannot obscure information about its gross greenhouse gas emissions targets.

Carbon credits

- B70 Paragraph 36(e) requires an entity to describe its planned use of carbon credits—which are transferable or tradeable instruments—to offset emissions to achieve any net greenhouse gas emissions targets the entity has set, or any it is required to meet by law or regulation. Any information about the planned use of carbon credits shall clearly demonstrate the extent to which these carbon credits are relied on to achieve the net greenhouse gas emissions targets.
- B71 In accordance with paragraph 36(e), an entity is required to disclose only its planned use of carbon credits. However, as part of this disclosure, the entity might also include information about carbon credits it has already purchased that the entity is planning to use to meet its net greenhouse gas emissions target, if the information enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the entity's greenhouse gas emissions target.

Appendix C Effective date and transition

This appendix is an integral part of AASB S2 and has the same authority as the other parts of the Standard.

Effective date

- C1 [Deleted by the AASB]
- AusC1.1 An entity shall apply this Standard for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies this Standard earlier, it shall disclose that fact.
- C2 For the purposes of applying paragraphs C3–C5, the date of initial application is the beginning of the annual reporting period in which an entity first applies this Standard.

Transition

- C3 An entity is not required to provide the disclosures specified in this Standard for any period before the date of initial application. Accordingly, an entity is not required to disclose comparative information in the first annual reporting period in which it applies this Standard.
- C4 In the first annual reporting period in which an entity applies this Standard, the entity is permitted to use one or both of these reliefs:
 - (a) if, in the annual reporting period immediately preceding the date of initial application of this Standard, the entity used a method for measuring its greenhouse gas emissions other than the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004), the entity is permitted to continue using that other method; and
 - (b) an entity is not required to disclose its Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions (see paragraph 29(a)) which includes, if the entity participates in asset management, commercial banking or insurance activities, the additional information about its financed emissions (see paragraph 29(a)(vi)(2) and paragraphs B58–AusB63.1).
- C5 If an entity uses the relief in paragraph C4(a) or paragraph C4(b), the entity is permitted to continue to use that relief for the purposes of presenting that information as comparative information in subsequent reporting periods.

Appendix D General requirements for disclosure of climate-related financial information

This appendix is an integral part of AASB S2 and has the same authority as the other parts of the Standard.

This appendix prescribes how an entity prepares and reports its climate-related financial disclosures. It sets out general requirements for the presentation of those disclosures, guidelines for their structure and requirements for their content.

The appendix contains paragraphs drawn from the voluntary Standard AASB S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information* (September 2024). However, the requirements in this appendix apply only to climate-related financial information, and not to the broader sustainability-related financial information covered by AASB S1.

Entities are required to comply with all of the requirements in this appendix, as well as the other requirements of AASB S2, in order for an entity to be able to make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with AASB S2.

An entity applying AASB S2 is not required to apply AASB S1. Rather, an entity applying AASB S2 is required to comply only with AASB S2, including this appendix. The entity does not need to consider AASB S1 or the paragraphs of AASB S1 that are not included in this appendix. However, the entity may refer to AASB S1 for guidance in complying with the requirements in this appendix.

Applying both mandatory AASB S2 and voluntary AASB S1

To assist entities that elect to apply AASB S1 as well as AASB S2:

- the paragraph numbering in this appendix uses the numbering of AASB S1, including paragraphs from its Appendices B and D;
- paragraphs of AASB S1 that are not included in this appendix are noted; and
- the AASB clarified that the requirements set out in paragraphs 7 and 26 apply particularly if an entity elects to apply AASB S1 to disclose information about other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in addition to climate-related risks and opportunities (see paragraphs Aus7.1 and Aus26.1 in the body of AASB S2). The paragraphs require an entity to avoid unnecessary duplication of governance and risk management disclosures by providing integrated disclosures instead of separate disclosures for each sustainability-related risk and opportunity, if oversight of sustainability-related risks and opportunities is managed on an integrated basis.

All paragraph cross-references in this appendix are to paragraphs in this appendix.

The only changes to the text of the AASB S1 paragraphs as included in this appendix are to limit the scope to climate-related financial information (instead of sustainability-related financial information), to refer to Australian pronouncements and to remove cross-references to paragraphs that are not included in this appendix.

1–9 [Not included]

Conceptual foundations

10 For climate-related financial information to be useful, it must be relevant and faithfully represent what it purports to represent. These are fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information. The usefulness of climate-related financial information is enhanced if the information is comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable. These are enhancing qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information (see Appendix D).

Fair presentation

- 11 A complete set of climate-related financial disclosures shall present fairly all climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects.
- 12 To identify climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects, an entity shall apply paragraphs B8–B10.

- 13 Fair presentation requires disclosure of relevant information about climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects, and their faithful representation in accordance with the principles set out in this Standard. To achieve faithful representation, an entity shall provide a complete, neutral and accurate depiction of those climate-related risks and opportunities.
- 14 Materiality is an entity-specific aspect of relevance based on the nature or magnitude, or both, of the items to which the information relates, in the context of the entity's climate-related financial disclosures.
- 15 Fair presentation also requires an entity:
 - (a) to disclose information that is comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable; and
 - (b) to disclose additional information if compliance with the specifically applicable requirements in Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards is insufficient to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's cash flows, its access to finance and cost of capital over the short, medium and long term.
- 16 Applying Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, with additional information disclosed when necessary (see paragraph 15(b)), is presumed to result in climate-related financial disclosures that achieve fair presentation.

Materiality

- 17 An entity shall disclose material information about the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects.
- 18 In the context of climate-related financial disclosures, information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring that information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that primary users of general purpose financial reports make on the basis of those reports, which include financial statements and climate-related financial disclosures and which provide information about a specific reporting entity.
- 19 To identify and disclose material information, an entity shall apply paragraphs B13–B19 and B21–B37.

Reporting entity

- 20 [Not included]
- Aus20.1 An entity's climate-related financial disclosures shall be for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements, unless otherwise permitted by law (see paragraph AusB38.1).

Connected information

- 21 An entity shall provide information in a manner that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand the following types of connections:
 - (a) the connections between the items to which the information relates—such as connections between various climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects; and
 - (b) the connections between disclosures provided by the entity:
 - (i) within its climate-related financial disclosures—such as connections between disclosures on governance, strategy, risk management and metrics and targets; and
 - (ii) across its climate-related financial disclosures and other general purpose financial reports published by the entity—such as its related financial statements (see paragraphs B39–B44).
- 22 An entity shall identify the financial statements to which the climate-related financial disclosures relate.
- 23 Data and assumptions used in preparing the climate-related financial disclosures shall be consistent to the extent possible considering the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards—with the corresponding data and assumptions used in preparing the related financial statements (see paragraph B42).
- 24 When currency is specified as the unit of measure in the climate-related financial disclosures, the entity shall use the presentation currency of its related financial statements.

Core content

25–

27 [Not included]

Strategy

28-

- 30 [Not included]
- 31 Short-, medium- and long-term time horizons can vary between entities and depend on many factors, including industry-specific characteristics, such as cash flow, investment and business cycles, the planning horizons typically used in an entity's industry for strategic decision-making and capital allocation plans, and the time horizons over which users of general purpose financial reports conduct their assessments of entities in that industry.
- 32-
- 44 [Not included]

Metrics and targets

45–

- 48 [Not included]
- 49 If an entity discloses a metric taken from a source other than Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, the entity shall identify the source and the metric taken.
- 50 If a metric has been developed by an entity, the entity shall disclose information about:
 - (a) how the metric is defined, including whether it is derived by adjusting a metric taken from a source other than Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards and, if so, which source and how the metric disclosed by the entity differs from the metric specified in that source;
 - (b) whether the metric is an absolute measure, a measure expressed in relation to another metric or a qualitative measure (such as a red, amber, green—or RAG—status);
 - (c) whether the metric is validated by a third party and, if so, which party; and
 - (d) the method used to calculate the metric and the inputs to the calculation, including the limitations of the method used and the significant assumptions made.
- 51 [Not included]
- 52 The definition and calculation of metrics, including metrics used to set the entity's targets and monitor progress towards reaching them, shall be consistent over time. If a metric is redefined or replaced, an entity shall apply paragraph B52.
- 53 An entity shall label and define metrics and targets using meaningful, clear and precise names and descriptions.

General requirements

54–

59 [Not included]

Location of disclosures

- 60 An entity is required to provide disclosures required by Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards as part of its general purpose financial reports.
- 61 [Not included]
- 62 An entity may disclose information required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard in the same location as information disclosed to meet other requirements, such as information required by regulators. The entity shall ensure that the climate-related financial disclosures are clearly identifiable and not obscured by that additional information (see paragraph B27).
- 63 Information required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard may be included in climate-related financial disclosures by cross-reference to another report published by the entity. If an entity includes information by cross-reference, the entity shall apply the requirements in paragraphs B45–B47.

Timing of reporting

- 64 An entity shall report its climate-related financial disclosures at the same time as its related financial statements. The entity's climate-related financial disclosures shall cover the same reporting period as the related financial statements.
- 65 Normally, an entity prepares climate-related financial disclosures for a 12-month period. However, for practical reasons, some entities prefer to report, for example, for a 52-week period. This Standard does not preclude that practice.
- 66 When an entity changes the end of its reporting period and provides climate-related financial disclosures for a period longer or shorter than 12 months, it shall disclose:
 - (a) the period covered by the climate-related financial disclosures;
 - (b) the reason for using a longer or shorter period; and
 - (c) the fact that the amounts disclosed in the climate-related financial disclosures are not entirely comparable.
- 67 If, after the end of the reporting period but before the date on which the climate-related financial disclosures are authorised for issue, an entity receives information about conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period, it shall update disclosures that relate to those conditions in the light of the new information.
- 68 An entity shall disclose information about transactions, other events and conditions that occur after the end of the reporting period, but before the date on which the climate-related financial disclosures are authorised for issue, if non-disclosure of that information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that primary users of general purpose financial reports make on the basis of those reports.
- 69 This Standard does not mandate which entities would be required to provide interim climate-related financial disclosures, how frequently, or how soon after the end of an interim period. However, governments, securities regulators, stock exchanges and accountancy bodies may require entities whose debt or equity securities are publicly traded to publish interim general purpose financial reports. If an entity is required or elects to publish interim climate-related financial disclosures in accordance with Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, the entity shall apply paragraph B48.

Comparative information

- 70 Unless another Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard permits or requires otherwise, an entity shall disclose comparative information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts disclosed in the reporting period. If such information would be useful for an understanding of the climate-related financial disclosures for the reporting period, the entity shall also disclose comparative information for narrative and descriptive climate-related financial information (see paragraphs B49–B59).
- 71 [Not included]

Statement of compliance

- 72 An entity whose climate-related financial disclosures comply with all the requirements of this Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard shall make an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance. An entity shall not describe climate-related financial disclosures as complying with this Standard unless they comply with all the requirements of this Standard.
- 73 This Standard relieves an entity from disclosing information otherwise required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard if law or regulation prohibits the entity from disclosing that information (see paragraph B33). This Standard also relieves an entity from disclosing information about a climate-related opportunity otherwise required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard if that information is commercially sensitive as described in this Standard (see paragraphs B34–B37). An entity using these exemptions is not prevented from asserting compliance with Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards.

Judgements, uncertainties and errors

Judgements

74 An entity shall disclose information to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the judgements, apart from those involving estimations of amounts (see paragraph 77), that the entity

has made in the process of preparing its climate-related financial disclosures and that have the most significant effect on the information included in those disclosures.

- 75 In the process of preparing climate-related financial disclosures, an entity makes various judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that can significantly affect the information reported in the entity's climaterelated financial disclosures. For example, an entity makes judgements in:
 - (a) identifying climate-related risks and opportunities that could be reasonably expected to affect the entity's prospects;
 - (b) determining which sources of guidance to apply;
 - (c) identifying material information to include in the climate-related financial disclosures; and
 - (d) assessing whether an event or change in circumstances is significant and requires reassessment of the scope of all affected climate-related risks and opportunities throughout the entity's value chain.
- 76 [Not included]

Measurement uncertainty

- 77 An entity shall disclose information to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the most significant uncertainties affecting the amounts reported in its climate-related financial disclosures.
- 78 An entity shall:
 - (a) identify the amounts that it has disclosed that are subject to a high level of measurement uncertainty; and
 - (b) in relation to each amount identified in paragraph 78(a), disclose information about:
 - (i) the sources of measurement uncertainty—for example, the dependence of the amount on the outcome of a future event, on a measurement technique or on the availability and quality of data from the entity's value chain; and
 - (ii) the assumptions, approximations and judgements the entity has made in measuring the amount.
- 79 When amounts reported in climate-related financial disclosures cannot be measured directly and can only be estimated, measurement uncertainty arises. In some cases, an estimate involves assumptions about possible future events with uncertain outcomes. The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of preparing climate-related financial disclosures and does not undermine the usefulness of the information if the estimates are accurately described and explained. Even a high level of measurement uncertainty would not necessarily prevent such an estimate from providing useful information.
- 80 The requirement in paragraph 77 for an entity to disclose information about the uncertainties affecting the amounts reported in climate-related financial disclosures relates to the estimates that require the entity's most difficult, subjective or complex judgements. As the number of variables and assumptions increases, those judgements become more subjective and complex, and the uncertainty affecting the amounts reported in the climate-related financial disclosures accordingly.
- 81 The type and extent of the information an entity might need to disclose vary according to the nature of the amount reported in the climate-related financial disclosures—the sources of and the factors contributing to the uncertainty and other circumstances. Examples of the type of information an entity might need to disclose are:
 - (a) the nature of the assumption or other source of measurement uncertainty;
 - (b) the sensitivity of the disclosed amount to the methods, assumptions and estimates underlying its calculation, including the reasons for the sensitivity;
 - (c) the expected resolution of an uncertainty and the range of reasonably possible outcomes for the disclosed amount; and
 - (d) an explanation of changes made to past assumptions concerning the disclosed amount, if the uncertainty remains unresolved.
- 82 [Not included]

Errors

83 An entity shall correct material prior period errors by restating the comparative amounts for the prior period(s) disclosed unless it is *impracticable* to do so.

- 84 Prior period errors are omissions from and misstatements in the entity's climate-related financial disclosures for one or more prior periods. Such errors arise from a failure to use, or the misuse of, reliable information that:
 - (a) was available when the climate-related financial disclosures for that period(s) were authorised for issue; and
 - (b) could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and considered in the preparation of those disclosures.
- 85 Corrections of errors are distinguished from changes in estimates. Estimates are approximations that an entity might need to revise as additional information becomes known.
- 86 If an entity identifies a material error in its prior period climate-related financial disclosures, it shall apply paragraphs B55–B59.

Application guidance (from AASB S1, Appendix B)

Climate-related risks and opportunities (paragraphs 11–12)

- B1 This Standard requires an entity to disclose information about all climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's cash flows, its access to finance or cost of capital over the short, medium or long term (referred to as 'climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects').
- B2 An entity's climate-related risks and opportunities arise out of the interactions between the entity and its stakeholders, society, the economy and the natural environment throughout the entity's value chain. These interactions—which can be direct and indirect—result from operating an entity's business model in pursuit of the entity's strategic purposes and from the external environment in which the entity operates. These interactions take place within an interdependent system in which an entity both depends on resources and relationships throughout its value chain to generate cash flows and affects those resources and relationships through its activities and outputs—contributing to the preservation, regeneration and development of those resources and relationships or to their degradation and depletion. These dependencies and impacts might give rise to climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's cash flows, its access to finance and cost of capital over the short, medium and long term.
- B3-
- B7 [Not included]

Reasonable and supportable information

- B8 Reasonable and supportable information used by an entity in preparing its climate-related financial disclosures shall cover factors that are specific to the entity as well as general conditions in the external environment. In some cases—such as in identifying climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects—reasonable and supportable information includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. Other Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards may specify what is reasonable and supportable information in specific cases.
- B9 An entity may use various sources of data that may be both internal and external. Possible data sources include the entity's risk management processes; industry and peer group experience; and external ratings, reports and statistics. Information that is used by the entity in preparing its financial statements, operating its business model, setting its strategy and managing its risks and opportunities is considered to be available to the entity without undue cost or effort.
- B10 An entity need not undertake an exhaustive search for information to identify climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects. The assessment of what constitutes undue cost or effort depends on the entity's specific circumstances and requires a balanced consideration of the costs and efforts for the entity and the benefits of the resulting information for primary users. That assessment can change over time as circumstances change.
- B11-
- B12 [Not included]

Materiality (paragraphs 17–19)

- B13 Paragraph 17 requires an entity to disclose material information about the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect the entity's prospects. Materiality of information is judged in relation to whether omitting, misstating or obscuring that information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions of primary users of general purpose financial reports, which provide information about a specific reporting entity.
- B14 The decisions of primary users relate to providing resources to the entity and involve decisions about:
 - (a) buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments;
 - (b) providing or selling loans and other forms of credit; or
 - (c) exercising rights to vote on, or otherwise influence, the entity's management's actions that affect the use of the entity's economic resources.
- AusB14.1 In respect of not-for-profit entities, the following are examples of decisions of primary users relating to providing resources to an entity:
 - (a) parliaments deciding on behalf of constituents whether to fund particular programmes for delivery by an entity;
 - (b) taxpayers deciding who should represent them in government;
 - (c) donors deciding whether to donate resources to an entity; and
 - (d) recipients of goods and services deciding whether they can continue to rely on the provision of goods and services from the entity or whether to seek alternative suppliers.
- B15 The decisions described in paragraph B14 depend on primary users' expectations about returns, for example, dividends, principal and interest payments or market price increases. Those expectations depend on primary users' assessment of the amount, timing and uncertainty of future net cash inflows to the entity and on their assessment of stewardship of the entity's economic resources by the entity's management and its governing body(s) or individual(s).
- AusB15.1 In respect of not-for-profit entities, the decisions described in paragraph AusB14.1 depend on primary users' expectations about returns and a not-for-profit entity's ability to continue providing goods or services. Those expectations depend on primary users' assessment of the amount, timing and uncertainty of future net cash inflows to the entity and on their assessment of stewardship of the entity's economic resources by the entity's management and its governing body(s) or individual(s).
- B16 Assessing whether information could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions made by primary users requires consideration of the characteristics of those users and of the entity's own circumstances.
- B17 Climate-related financial disclosures are prepared for primary users who have reasonable knowledge of business and economic activities and who review and analyse information diligently. At times, even well-informed and diligent users may need to seek the aid of an adviser to understand climate-related financial information.
- B18 Individual primary users may have different, and sometimes even conflicting, information needs and desires. Information needs of primary users may also evolve over time. Climate-related financial disclosures are intended to meet common information needs of primary users.

Identifying material information

- B19 Materiality judgements are specific to an entity. Consequently, this Standard does not specify any thresholds for materiality or predetermine what would be material in a particular situation.
- B20 [Not included]
- B21 An entity shall assess whether information, either individually or in combination with other information, is material in the context of the entity's climate-related financial disclosures taken as a whole. In assessing whether information is material, an entity shall consider both quantitative and qualitative factors. For example, an entity might consider the magnitude and the nature of the effect of a climate-related risk or opportunity on the entity.
- B22 In some cases, Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards require the disclosure of information about possible future events with uncertain outcomes. In judging whether information about such possible future events is material, an entity shall consider:

- (a) the potential effects of the events on the amount, timing and uncertainty of the entity's future cash flows over the short, medium and long term (referred to as 'the possible outcome'); and
- (b) the range of possible outcomes and the likelihood of the possible outcomes within that range.
- B23 When considering possible outcomes, an entity shall consider all pertinent facts and circumstances. Information about a possible future event is more likely to be judged as being material if the potential effects are significant and the event is likely to occur. However, an entity shall also consider whether information about low-probability and high-impact outcomes might be material either individually or in combination with information about other low-probability and high-impact outcomes. For example, an entity might be exposed to several climate-related risks, each of which could cause the same type of disruption—such as disruption to the entity's supply chain. Information about an individual source of risk might not be material if disruption from that source is highly unlikely to occur. However, information about the aggregate risk—the risk of supply chain disruption from all sources—might be material.
- B24 If a possible future event is expected to affect an entity's cash flows, but only many years in the future, information about that event is usually less likely to be judged material than information about a possible future event with similar effects that are expected to occur sooner. However, in some circumstances, an item of information could reasonably be expected to influence primary users' decisions regardless of the magnitude of the potential effects of the future event or the timing of that event. For example, this might happen if information about a particular climate-related risk or opportunity is highly scrutinised by primary users of an entity's general purpose financial reports.
- B25 An entity need not disclose information otherwise required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard if the information is not material. This is the case even if the Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard contains a list of specific requirements or describes them as minimum requirements.
- B26 An entity shall disclose additional information when compliance with the specifically applicable requirements in an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard is insufficient to enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on the entity's cash flows, its access to finance and cost of capital over the short, medium and long term.
- B27 An entity shall identify its climate-related financial disclosures clearly and distinguish them from other information provided by the entity (see paragraph 62). An entity shall not obscure material information. Information is obscured if it is communicated in a way that would have a similar effect for primary users to omitting or misstating that information. Examples of circumstances that might result in material information being obscured include:
 - (a) material information is not clearly distinguished from additional information that is not material;
 - (b) material information is disclosed in the climate-related financial disclosures, but the language used is vague or unclear;
 - (c) material information about a climate-related risk or opportunity is scattered throughout the climate-related financial disclosures;
 - (d) items of information that are dissimilar are inappropriately aggregated;
 - (e) items of information that are similar are inappropriately disaggregated; and
 - (f) the understandability of the climate-related financial disclosures is reduced as a result of material information being hidden by immaterial information to the extent that a primary user is unable to determine what information is material.
- B28 An entity shall reassess its materiality judgements at each reporting date to take account of changed circumstances and assumptions. Because of changes in the entity's individual circumstances, or in the external environment, some types of information included in an entity's climate-related financial disclosures for prior periods might no longer be material. Conversely, some types of information not previously disclosed might become material.

Aggregation and disaggregation

- B29 When an entity applies Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, it shall consider all facts and circumstances and decide how to aggregate and disaggregate information in its climate-related financial disclosures. The entity shall not reduce the understandability of its climate-related financial disclosures by obscuring material information with immaterial information or by aggregating material items of information that are dissimilar to each other.
- B30 An entity shall not aggregate information if doing so would obscure information that is material. Information shall be aggregated if items of information have shared characteristics and shall not be aggregated if they do not have shared characteristics. The entity might need to disaggregate information about climate-related risks

and opportunities, for example, by geographical location or in consideration of the geopolitical environment. For example, to ensure that material information is not obscured, an entity might need to disaggregate information about its use of water to distinguish between water drawn from abundant sources and water drawn from water-stressed areas.

Interaction with law or regulation

- B31 Law or regulation might specify requirements for an entity to disclose climate-related information in its general purpose financial reports. In such circumstances, the entity is permitted to include in its climate-related financial disclosures information to meet legal or regulatory requirements, even if that information is not material. However, such information shall not obscure material information.
- B32 An entity shall disclose material climate-related financial information, even if law or regulation permits the entity not to disclose such information.
- B33 An entity need not disclose information otherwise required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard if law or regulation prohibits the entity from disclosing that information. If an entity omits material information for that reason, it shall identify the type of information not disclosed and explain the source of the restriction.

Commercially sensitive information

- B34 If an entity determines that information about a climate-related opportunity is commercially sensitive in the limited circumstances described in paragraph B35, the entity is permitted to omit that information from its climate-related financial disclosures. Such an omission is permitted even if information is otherwise required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard and the information is material.
- B35 An entity qualifies for the exemption specified in paragraph B34 if, and only if:
 - (a) information about the climate-related opportunity is not already publicly available;
 - (b) disclosure of that information could reasonably be expected to prejudice seriously the economic benefits the entity would otherwise be able to realise in pursuing the opportunity; and
 - (c) the entity has determined that it is impossible to disclose that information in a manner—for example, at an aggregated level—that would enable the entity to meet the objectives of the disclosure requirements without prejudicing seriously the economic benefits the entity would otherwise be able to realise in pursuing the opportunity.
- B36 If an entity elects to use the exemption specified in paragraph B34, the entity shall, for each item of information omitted:
 - (a) disclose the fact that it has used the exemption; and
 - (b) reassess, at each reporting date, whether the information qualifies for the exemption.
- B37 An entity is prohibited from using the exemption specified in paragraph B34 in relation to a climate-related risk or as a basis for broad non-disclosure of climate-related financial information.

Reporting entity (paragraph 20)

B38 [Not included]

AusB38.1 Unless otherwise permitted by law, paragraph Aus20.1 requires that climate-related financial disclosures shall be for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements. For example, consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards provide information about the parent and its subsidiaries as a single reporting entity. Consequently, that entity's climate-related financial disclosures shall enable users of general purpose financial reports to understand the effects of the climate-related risks and opportunities on the cash flows, access to finance and cost of capital over the short, medium and long term for the parent and its subsidiaries.

Connected information (paragraphs 21-24)

B39 Paragraph 21 requires an entity to provide information in a manner that enables users of general purpose financial reports to understand connections both between the items to which the information relates and between disclosures provided by the entity in its general purpose financial reports.

- B40 Connected information provides insight into connections between the items to which the information relates. For example:
 - (a) if an entity pursued a particular climate-related opportunity and that resulted in an increase in the entity's revenue, connected information will depict that relationship between the entity's strategy and its financial performance;
 - (b) if an entity identified a trade-off between two climate-related risks it is exposed to and took action on the basis of its assessment of that trade-off, connected information will depict the relationship between those risks and the entity's strategy; and
 - (c) if an entity committed to a particular climate-related target, but that commitment has not yet affected the entity's financial position or financial performance because the applicable recognition criteria have not been met, connected information will depict that relationship.
- B41 Connected information includes:
 - (a) connections between various types of information about a particular climate-related risk or opportunity, such as:
 - (i) between disclosures on governance, strategy and risk management; and
 - (ii) between narrative information and quantitative information (including related metrics and targets and information in the related financial statements).
 - (b) connections between disclosures about various climate-related risks and opportunities. For example, if an entity integrates its oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities, the entity shall integrate the disclosures on governance instead of providing separate disclosures on governance for each climate-related risk and opportunity.
- B42 Drawing connections between disclosures involves, but is not limited to, providing necessary explanations and cross-references and using consistent data, assumptions, and units of measure. In providing connected information, an entity shall:
 - (a) explain connections between disclosures in a clear and concise manner;
 - (b) avoid unnecessary duplication if Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards require the disclosure of common items of information; and
 - (c) disclose information about significant differences between the data and assumptions used in preparing the entity's climate-related financial disclosures and the data and assumptions used in preparing the related financial statements.
- B43 For example, in providing connected information an entity might need to explain the effect or likely effect of its strategy on its financial statements and financial planning, or explain how that strategy relates to the metrics the entity uses to measure progress against targets. Another entity might need to explain how its use of natural resources or changes within its supply chain could amplify or, in contrast, reduce its climate-related risks and opportunities. The entity might need to link the information about its use of natural resources or changes within its supply chain to information about current or anticipated financial effects on the entity's production costs, its strategic response to mitigate those risks and its related investment in new assets. The entity might need to link narrative information to the related metrics and targets and to information in the related financial statements.
- B44 Other examples of connected information include:
 - (a) an explanation of the combined effects of the entity's climate-related risks and opportunities and its strategy on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows over the short, medium and long term. For example, an entity might face decreasing demand for its products because of consumer preferences for lower-carbon alternatives. The entity might need to explain how its strategic response, such as closing a major factory, could affect its workforce and local communities, and the effect of such a closure on the useful lives of its assets and on impairment assessments.
 - (b) a description of the alternatives that an entity evaluated in setting its strategy in response to its climate-related risks and opportunities, including a description of the trade-offs between those risks and opportunities that the entity considered. For example, an entity might need to explain the potential effects of its decision to restructure its operations in response to a climate-related risk on the future size and composition of the entity's workforce.

Information included by cross-reference (paragraph 63)

- B45 Information required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard might be available in another report published by the entity. For example, the required information could be disclosed in the related financial statements. Material information can be included in an entity's climate-related financial disclosures by crossreference, provided that:
 - (a) the cross-referenced information is available on the same terms and at the same time as the climaterelated financial disclosures; and
 - (b) the complete set of climate-related financial disclosures is not made less understandable by including information by cross-reference.
- B46 Information included by cross-reference becomes part of the complete set of climate-related financial disclosures and shall comply with the requirements of Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards. For example, it needs to be relevant, representationally faithful, comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable. The body(s) or individual(s) that authorises the general purpose financial reports takes the same responsibility for the information included by cross-reference as it does for the information included directly.
- B47 If information required by an Australian Sustainability Reporting Standard is included by cross-reference:
 - (a) the climate-related financial disclosures shall clearly identify the report within which that information is located and explain how to access that report; and
 - (b) the cross-reference shall be to a precisely specified part of that report.

Interim reporting (paragraph 69)

B48 In the interest of timeliness and cost considerations, and to avoid repetition of information previously reported, an entity may be required or choose to provide less information at interim dates than it provides in its annual climate-related financial disclosures. Interim climate-related financial disclosures are intended to provide an update on the latest complete set of annual disclosures of climate-related financial information. These disclosures focus on new information, events and circumstances and do not duplicate information previously reported. Although the information provided in interim climate-related financial disclosures may be more condensed than in annual climate-related financial disclosures, an entity is not prohibited or discouraged from publishing a complete set of climate-related financial disclosures as specified in this Standard as part of its interim general purpose financial report.

Comparative information (paragraphs 52, 70 and 83-86)

B49 Paragraph 70 requires an entity to disclose comparative information in respect of the preceding period for all amounts disclosed in the reporting period.

Metrics

- B50 In some cases, the amount disclosed for a metric is an estimate. Except as specified in paragraph B51, if an entity identifies new information in relation to the estimated amount disclosed in the preceding period and the new information provides evidence of circumstances that existed in that period, the entity shall:
 - (a) disclose a revised comparative amount that reflects that new information;
 - (b) disclose the difference between the amount disclosed in the preceding period and the revised comparative amount; and
 - (c) explain the reasons for revising the comparative amount.
- B51 In applying the requirement in paragraph B50, an entity need not disclose a revised comparative amount:
 - (a) if it is impracticable to do so (see paragraph B54).
 - (b) if the metric is forward-looking. Forward-looking metrics relate to possible future transactions, events and other conditions. The entity is permitted to revise a comparative amount for a forward-looking metric if doing so does not involve the use of hindsight.
- B52 If an entity redefines or replaces a metric in the reporting period, the entity shall:
 - (a) disclose a revised comparative amount, unless it is impracticable to do so;
 - (b) explain the changes; and

- (c) explain the reasons for those changes, including why the redefined or replacement metric provides more useful information.
- B53 If an entity introduces a new metric in the reporting period, it shall disclose a comparative amount for that metric unless it is impracticable to do so.
- B54 Sometimes, it is impracticable to revise a comparative amount to achieve comparability with the reporting period. For example, data might not have been collected in the preceding period in a way that allows retrospective application of a new definition of a metric, and it might be impracticable to recreate the data. If it is impracticable to revise a comparative amount for the preceding period, an entity shall disclose that fact.

Errors

- B55 Paragraph 83 requires an entity to correct material prior period errors.
- B56 Such errors include: the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in applying the definitions for metrics or targets, oversights or misinterpretations of facts, and fraud.
- B57 Potential reporting period errors discovered in that period are corrected before the climate-related financial disclosures are authorised for issue. However, material errors are sometimes not discovered until a subsequent period.
- B58 If an entity identifies a material error in its prior period(s) climate-related financial disclosures, it shall disclose:
 - (a) the nature of the prior period error;
 - (b) the correction, to the extent practicable, for each prior period disclosed; and
 - (c) if correction of the error is impracticable, the circumstances that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how and from when the error has been corrected.
- B59 When it is impracticable to determine the effect of an error on all prior periods presented, the entity shall restate the comparative information to correct the error from the earliest date practicable.

Qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information (from AASB S1, Appendix D)

Introduction

- D1 The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (as amended to December 2021) and the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements (as amended to March 2020) (the Conceptual Frameworks) were issued by the AASB. They describe the objective of, and the concepts that apply to, general purpose financial reports. One purpose of the Conceptual Frameworks is to assist the AASB to develop Australian Accounting Standards for preparing financial statements based on consistent concepts.
- D2 Climate-related financial disclosures are part of general purpose financial reports. The qualitative characteristics in the Conceptual Frameworks, therefore, apply to climate-related financial information. However, the nature of some of the information required to meet the objective of this Standard differs in some respects from the information provided in financial statements.
- D3 Climate-related financial information is useful if it is relevant and faithfully represents what it purports to represent. Relevance and faithful representation are fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information. The usefulness of climate-related financial information is enhanced if the information is comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable. Comparability, verifiability, timeliness and understandability are enhancing characteristics of useful climate-related financial information.

Fundamental qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information

Relevance

D4 Relevant climate-related financial information is capable of making a difference in the decisions made by primary users. Information may be capable of making a difference in a decision even if some users choose not

to take advantage of it or are already aware of it from other sources. Climate-related financial information is capable of making a difference in decisions made by users if it has predictive value, confirmatory value or both.

- D5 Climate-related financial information has predictive value if it can be used as an input to processes employed by primary users to predict future outcomes. Climate-related financial information need not be a prediction or forecast to have predictive value. Climate-related financial information with predictive value is employed by primary users in making their own predictions. For example, information about water quality, which can include information about the water being polluted, could inform the expectations of users about the ability of an entity to meet local water-quality requirements.
- D6 Climate-related financial information has confirmatory value if it provides feedback about (confirms or changes) previous evaluations.
- D7 The predictive value and confirmatory value of climate-related financial information are interrelated. Information that has predictive value often also has confirmatory value. For example, information for the current year about greenhouse gas emissions, which can be used as the basis for predicting greenhouse gas emissions in future years, can also be compared with predictions about greenhouse gas emissions for the current year that were made in past years. The results of those comparisons can help a user to correct and improve the processes that were used to make those previous predictions.

Materiality

D8 Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring that information could reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial reports make on the basis of those reports, which provide information about a specific reporting entity. In other words, materiality is an entity-specific aspect of relevance. The materiality of information is assessed in the context of an entity's climate-related financial disclosures and is based on the nature or magnitude of the item to which the information relates, or both.

Faithful representation

- D9 Climate-related financial information represents phenomena in words and numbers. To be useful, the information must not only represent relevant phenomena, it must also faithfully represent the substance of the phenomena that it purports to represent.
- D10 To be a faithful representation, a depiction would be complete, neutral and accurate. The objective of general purpose financial reports is to maximise those qualities to the extent possible.
- D11 A complete depiction of a climate-related risk or opportunity includes all material information necessary for primary users to understand that risk or opportunity.
- D12 Climate-related financial information shall be neutral. A neutral depiction is one without bias in the selection or disclosure of information. Information is neutral if it is not slanted, weighted, emphasised, de-emphasised or otherwise manipulated to make it more likely that primary users will receive that information favourably or unfavourably. Neutral information is not information without purpose or without influence on behaviour. On the contrary, relevant information is, by definition, capable of making a difference in users' decisions.
- D13 Some climate-related financial information—for example, targets or plans—is aspirational. A neutral discussion of such matters covers both aspirations and the factors that could prevent an entity from achieving these aspirations.
- D14 Neutrality is supported by the exercise of prudence. Prudence is the exercise of caution when making judgements under conditions of uncertainty. The exercise of prudence means that opportunities are not overstated and risks are not understated. Equally, the exercise of prudence does not allow for the understatement of opportunities or the overstatement of risks.
- D15 Climate-related financial information shall be accurate. Information can be accurate without being perfectly precise in all respects. The precision needed and attainable, and the factors that make information accurate, depend on the nature of the information and the nature of the matters to which it relates. For example, accuracy requires that:
 - (a) factual information is free from material error;
 - (b) descriptions are precise;
 - (c) estimates, approximations and forecasts are clearly identified as such;
 - (d) no material errors are made in selecting and applying an appropriate process for developing an estimate, approximation or forecast;

- (e) assertions and inputs used in developing estimates are reasonable and based on information of sufficient quality and quantity; and
- (f) information on judgements about the future faithfully reflects both those judgements and the information on which they are based.

Enhancing qualitative characteristics of useful climate-related financial information

D16 The usefulness of climate-related financial information is enhanced if it is comparable, verifiable, timely and understandable.

Comparability

- D17 The decisions made by the primary users of general purpose financial reports involve choosing between alternatives; for example, selling or holding an investment, or investing in one reporting entity or another. Comparability is the characteristic that enables users to identify and understand similarities in, and differences among, items. Unlike the other qualitative characteristics, comparability does not relate to a single item. A comparison requires at least two items. Information is more useful to users if it is also comparable, that is, if it can be compared with:
 - (a) information provided by the entity in previous periods; and
 - (b) information provided by other entities, in particular those with similar activities or operating within the same industry.
- D18 Climate-related financial disclosures shall be provided in a way that enhances comparability.
- D19 Consistency is related to, but is not the same as, comparability. Consistency refers to the use of the same approaches or methods for providing disclosures about the same climate-related risks and opportunities, from period to period, both by a reporting entity and other entities. Comparability is the goal; consistency helps to achieve that goal.
- D20 Comparability is not uniformity. For information to be comparable, like things shall look alike and different things shall look different. Comparability of climate-related financial information is not enhanced by making unlike things look alike any more than it is enhanced by making like things look different.

Verifiability

- D21 Verifiability helps to give users confidence that information is complete, neutral and accurate. Information is verifiable if it is possible to corroborate either the information itself or the inputs used to derive it. Verifiable information is more useful to primary users than information that is not verifiable.
- D22 Verifiability means that various knowledgeable and independent observers could reach consensus, although not necessarily complete agreement, that a particular depiction is a faithful representation. Quantified information need not be a single point estimate to be verifiable. A range of possible amounts and the related probabilities could also be verified.
- D23 Climate-related financial information shall be provided in a way that enhances its verifiability. Verifiability can be enhanced by, for example:
 - (a) including information that can be corroborated by comparing it with other information available to primary users about an entity's business, about other businesses or about the external environment in which the entity operates;
 - (b) providing information about inputs and methods of calculation used to produce estimates or approximations; and
 - (c) providing information reviewed and agreed by the entity's board, board committees or equivalent bodies.
- D24 Some climate-related financial information will be presented as explanations or forward-looking information. That information can be supportable, for example by faithfully representing fact-based strategies, plans and risk analyses. To help primary users decide whether to use such information, an entity shall describe the underlying assumptions and methods of producing the information, as well as other factors that provide evidence that the information reflects the actual plans or decisions made by the entity.

Timeliness

D25 Timeliness means having information available to decision-makers in time to be capable of influencing their decisions. Generally, the older information is, the less useful it is. However, some information may continue to be timely long after the end of a reporting period because, for example, some users may need to identify and assess trends.

Understandability

- D26 Climate-related financial information shall be clear and concise. For climate-related financial disclosures to be concise, they need:
 - (a) to avoid generic information, sometimes called 'boilerplate', that is not specific to the entity;
 - (b) to avoid duplication of information in the general purpose financial reports, including unnecessary duplication of information also provided in the related financial statements; and
 - (c) to use clear language and clearly structured sentences and paragraphs.
- D27 The clearest form a disclosure can take will depend on the nature of the information and might include tables, graphs or diagrams in addition to narrative text. If graphs or diagrams are used, additional text or tables might be necessary to avoid obscuring material detail.
- D28 Clarity might be enhanced by distinguishing information about developments in the reporting period from 'standing' information that remains unchanged, or changes little, from one period to the next—for example, by separately describing features of an entity's climate-related governance and risk management processes that have changed since the previous reporting period.
- D29 Disclosures are concise if they include only material information. Any immaterial information included shall be provided in a way that avoids obscuring material information.
- D30 Some climate-related risks and opportunities are inherently complex and might be difficult to present in a manner that is easy to understand. An entity shall present such information as clearly as possible. However, complex information about these risks and opportunities shall not be excluded from general purpose financial reports to make those reports easier to understand. Excluding such information would render those reports incomplete and, therefore, possibly misleading.
- D31 The completeness, clarity and comparability of climate-related financial information all rely on information being presented as a coherent whole. For climate-related financial information to be coherent, it shall be presented in a way that explains the context and the connections between the related items of information.
- D32 If climate-related risks and opportunities located in one part of an entity's general purpose financial reports have implications for information disclosed in other parts, the entity shall include the information necessary for users to assess those implications.
- D33 Coherence also requires an entity to provide information in a way that allows users to relate information about its climate-related risks and opportunities to information in the entity's financial statements.

Deleted IFRS S2 text

Deleted IFRS S2 text is not part of AASB S2.

- 12 In identifying the climate-related risks and opportunities that could reasonably be expected to affect an entity's prospects, the entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of the industry-based *disclosure topics* defined in the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2*.
- In preparing disclosures to meet the requirements in paragraphs 13–22, an entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of cross-industry metric categories, as described in paragraph 29, and industry-based metrics associated with disclosure topics defined in the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2* as described in paragraph 32.
- 28 To achieve this objective, an entity shall disclose:

• • •

- (b) industry-based metrics that are associated with particular business models, activities or other common features that characterise participation in an industry (see paragraph 32);
- 32 An entity shall disclose industry-based metrics that are associated with one or more particular business models, activities or other common features that characterise participation in an industry. In determining the industry-based metrics that the entity discloses, the entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of the industry-based metrics associated with disclosure topics described in the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2*.
- 37 In identifying and disclosing the metrics used to set and monitor progress towards reaching a target described in paragraphs 33–34, an entity shall refer to and consider the applicability of cross-industry metrics (see paragraph 29) and industry-based metrics (see paragraph 32), including those described in an applicable IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard, or metrics that otherwise satisfy the requirements in IFRS S1.

Appendix A - the definition of 'disclosure topic'

A specific sustainability-related risk or opportunity based on the activities conducted by entities within a particular industry as set out in an IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard or a SASB Standard.

B65 In preparing disclosures to fulfil the requirements in paragraph 29(b)–(g), an entity shall:

•••

- (d) consider whether industry-based metrics, as described in paragraph 32—including those defined in an applicable IFRS Sustainability Disclosure Standard or those that otherwise satisfy the requirements in IFRS S1—could be used to satisfy the requirements in whole or in part.
- B67 In identifying and disclosing the metric used to set a climate-related target and measure progress, an entity shall consider the cross-industry metrics and industry-based metrics. If the metric has been developed by the entity to measure progress towards a target, the entity shall disclose information about that metric in accordance with paragraph 50 of IFRS S1.
- C1 An entity shall apply this Standard for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies this Standard earlier, it shall disclose that fact and apply IFRS S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information* at the same time.

Basis for Conclusions and dissenting view

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, AASB S2.

Introduction

BC1 This Basis for Conclusions summarises the Australian Accounting Standards Board's (AASB's) considerations in developing AASB S2. In making decisions, individual Board members gave greater weight to some factors than to others.

Reasons for issuing this Standard

- BC2 The AASB issued AASB S2 to support the Australian Government's decision to require large businesses and financial institutions to prepare climate-related financial disclosures.
- BC3 Following multiple consultations and responding to calls from investors for more consistent, complete, comparable and verifiable information about an entity's climate-related risks and opportunities, in 2023 the Australian Government confirmed its intention to make climate-related financial disclosures mandatory for large businesses and financial institutions. In June 2023, the Commonwealth Treasury released the proposed design for a mandatory reporting framework, with an approach for Australia to be aligned as far as practicable with the standards developed by the International Sustainability Standards Board (the ISSB) to the extent relevant to climate-related financial disclosure. The Australian Government's policy intention is to improve the quality and comparability of climate-related financial disclosures across different companies and sectors, which, in turn, should help investors make more informed decisions.
- BC4 In September 2024, the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures)* Act 2024 was passed, introducing mandatory climate-related financial disclosures for certain corporations and other entities through amendments to the *Corporations Act 2001*.

Approach to developing AASB S2

- BC5 In March 2022, the ISSB published an Exposure Draft on [Draft] IFRS S1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information* and an Exposure Draft on [Draft] IFRS S2 *Climaterelated Disclosures*, which integrated and built on the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD), created by the Financial Stability Board (FSB).
- BC6 In April 2022, the AASB published Exposure Draft ED 321 *Request for Comment on ISSB [Draft] IFRS S1* General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information *and [Draft] IFRS S2* Climate-related Disclosures. Comments received on ED 321 indicated that the proposals in IFRS S1 and IFRS S2 would be an appropriate baseline on which to develop climate-related financial disclosure requirements for Australian entities.
- BC7 Considering the commitment from the Australian Government to introduce internationally aligned mandatory climate-related financial reporting for large businesses and financial institutions and the feedback to ED 321, the AASB decided:
 - (a) Australian sustainability-related reporting requirements would be in a separate suite of standards from Accounting Standards;
 - (b) to use the work of the ISSB as a foundation, with modifications for Australian circumstances where necessary to meet the needs of Australian stakeholders; and
 - (c) to initially develop climate-related financial disclosure requirements that can be applied independently of any broader sustainability reporting framework.
- BC8 The AASB noted that it may develop reporting requirements for other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in Australia over time.
- BC9 In June 2023, the ISSB finalised IFRS S1 and IFRS S2. In October 2023, the AASB published Exposure Draft ED SR1 *Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards – Disclosure of Climate-related Financial Information*. ED SR1 proposed three draft Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, as described below.

- (a) [Draft] ASRS 1 *General Requirements for Disclosure of Climate-related Financial Information*, developed using the requirements of IFRS S1 as the baseline but with a scope limitation to climate-related disclosure.
- (b) [Draft] ASRS 2 *Climate-related Financial Disclosures*, developed using the requirements of IFRS S2 as the baseline. The main proposed modifications to the baseline requirements related to:
 - (i) consideration and disclosure of industry-based information;
 - (ii) measurement of greenhouse gas emissions; and
 - (iii) temperature outcomes for scenario analysis.
- (c) [Draft] ASRS 101 References in Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, developed as a service Standard that would be updated when required to list the relevant versions of any non-legislative documents published in Australia and foreign documents that are referenced in Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards. Under section 14 of the Legislation Act 2003, Australian legislative instruments (such as mandatory Standards) cannot make provisions in relation to a non-legislative document as existing from time to time. Therefore, the proposed Standards identify the relevant version of all non-legislative Australian documents and foreign documents referenced in the Standards to be clear as to the versions referred to. A service Standard is one possible approach to identifying those documents.
- BC10 When the AASB was developing ED SR1, Treasury's Exposure Draft *Treasury Laws Amendment Bill 2024: Climate-related financial disclosure* (January 2024) had not yet been published. The AASB proposed modifications to the requirements in IFRS S1 and IFRS S2 after considering Treasury's second Consultation Paper, *Climate-related financial disclosure* (June 2023), and informal feedback from stakeholders, including the Treasury, the Australian Government Department of Climate Change, Energy, the Environment and Water (DCCEEW) and the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO). At the time, the AASB discussed whether to defer the publication of ED SR1 until it had considered the Treasury's exposure draft legislation and undertaken targeted outreach to gauge stakeholders' preliminary views on some of its proposals. However, the AASB decided it was important to publish ED SR1 in October 2023 to enable the issuance of the final Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards in time for implementation in annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2024, which was then the anticipated first application date for mandatory climate-related financial disclosures by the first group of entities.
- BC11 When deciding to publish ED SR1 ahead of the Treasury's exposure draft legislation and targeted stakeholder outreach, the AASB acknowledged that it might need to reconsider some of its proposals in light of the Treasury Exposure Draft (and the ultimate legislation) and stakeholder feedback on ED SR1. In particular, the AASB noted that its proposed modifications to the requirements set out in IFRS S2 for measuring greenhouse gas emissions and temperature outcomes for scenario analysis would likely require further consideration.
- BC12 ED SR1 was exposed for 130 days, with a comment period to 31 March 2024. Extensive outreach was conducted on the proposals in ED SR1, with a total of 500 attendees at the in-person roundtables in Adelaide, Brisbane, Canberra, Geelong, Hobart, Melbourne, Newcastle, Perth and Sydney, as well as virtual roundtables.
- BC13 Much of the feedback on ED SR1 favoured the requirements in IFRS S2 being incorporated in Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards with minimal or no modifications. Many stakeholders were of the view that there are few, if any, Australian-specific circumstances that would warrant departure from the baseline of IFRS S2 in accordance with the *AASB Sustainability Reporting Standard-Setting Framework* (September 2023). The AASB also noted that a closer alignment to the IFRS S2 requirements would be consistent with the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024* (the Act).
- BC14 In May–September 2024, the AASB discussed stakeholder feedback and reconsidered its proposed modifications to the baseline requirements. The AASB decided to issue two Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards, as described below:
 - (a) the voluntary Standard AASB S1 General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-related Financial Information, to incorporate all IFRS S1 requirements without modification. Consistent with the Australian Government's decision to address climate-related financial disclosures first and to consider the development of reporting requirements for other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in Australia over time, the AASB decided to issue AASB S1 as a voluntary Standard so that an entity applying AASB S2 is not required to apply AASB S1 to disclose information on other sustainability-related risks and opportunities; and
 - (b) the mandatory Standard AASB S2 *Climate-related Disclosures*, to incorporate all IFRS S2 requirements, with modifications only in respect to the following matters:
 - (i) general requirements for disclosure of climate-related financial information;
 - (ii) options under the legislative amendments regarding consolidated reporting;

- (iii) consideration and disclosure of industry-based information; and
- (iv) users of a not-for-profit entity's general purpose financial report (GPFR).
- BC15 The AASB considered whether further consultation or formal re-exposure of the proposed Standard should be carried out before issuing AASB S2. The AASB noted that extensive stakeholder engagement and consultation had been undertaken in developing AASB S2. The AASB received 117 comment letters and 289 survey responses on ED SR1 across various stakeholder groups, including financial report preparers and auditors, user groups, professional bodies, industry bodies and academics, covering both the private sector and the public sector. Considering the extensive feedback received and the AASB's decision to adopt all IFRS S2 requirements (except for industry-based disclosures), which is consistent with views supported by most stakeholders, as well as the future projects to address scalability and cost-benefit concerns and public sector application matters that the AASB added to its workplan (see paragraphs BC79–BC84), the AASB decided that further consultation or re-exposure was not required.
- BC16 Since the AASB decided to issue only one mandatory Standard (i.e. to make only AASB S2 as an Australian legislative instrument), the AASB decided not to issue the service Standard [draft] ASRS 101 proposed in ED SR1. Instead, AASB S2 directly identifies the relevant versions of non-legislative Australian documents and foreign documents referenced in the Standard (for example, see paragraphs AusB22.1 and AusB63.1). The AASB will amend AASB S2 as soon as practicable when required to refer to later versions of referenced documents.
- BC17 The following paragraphs summarise the key matters considered by the AASB in developing AASB S2, including the Board's decisions on how to address stakeholders' feedback.

General requirements for disclosure of climate-related financial information

- BC18 IFRS S1 sets out the general requirements for a complete set of sustainability-related financial disclosures. IFRS S1 is designed to be applied in conjunction with IFRS S2, which is a topic-based Standard that specifies disclosures relating to climate. As noted in paragraph BC14(a), consistent with the Australian Government's decision to address climate-related financial disclosures first and to consider the development of reporting requirements for other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in Australia over time, the AASB decided to issue AASB S1 as a voluntary Standard so that an entity applying AASB S2 is not required to apply AASB S1 to disclose information on other sustainability-related risks and opportunities.
- BC19 Consequently, the AASB added paragraphs Aus7.1 and Aus26.1 to clarify that the requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs 7 and 26 apply particularly if an entity elects to also apply AASB S1 to disclose information about other sustainability-related risks and opportunities in addition to climate-related risks and opportunities in GPFR. The paragraphs require an entity to avoid unnecessary duplication of disclosures by providing integrated disclosures instead of separate disclosures for each sustainability-related risk and opportunity, if oversight of sustainability-related risks and opportunities is managed on an integrated basis.
- BC20 Since AASB S1 is a voluntary Standard, the AASB included Appendix D *General Requirements for Disclosure of Climate-related Financial Information* in AASB S2 to incorporate the content of IFRS S1 necessary to enable AASB S2 to function as the standalone mandatory Standard containing all of the requirements regarding climate-related disclosures. Consequently, where IFRS S2 cross-references to IFRS S1 paragraphs, AASB S2 cross-references to Appendix D paragraphs.¹ Accordingly, AASB S2 contains all the requirements an entity would need to apply in reporting climate-related financial disclosures in accordance with AASB S2.
- BC21 In assessing the contents of IFRS S1 needed to make AASB S2 function as intended, the AASB considered whether:
 - (a) an IFRS S1 principle, disclosure or guidance is already incorporated in AASB S2;
 - (b) an IFRS S1 principle reflects content already in the AASB's *Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting* (in respect to for-profit entities) and the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* (in respect to not-for-profit entities) that are available as support material for applying AASB S2,² including considering the extent to which that content is the same; and
 - (c) the IFRS S1 content reflects corresponding content in Accounting Standards, i.e. material considered necessary to include in Accounting Standards to enable them to function.

Except for cross-references in IFRS S2 paragraphs B34–B36 to IFRS S1 paragraphs B6(b) and B11. The requirements set out in IFRS S1 paragraphs B6(b) and B11 are consistent with IFRS S2 paragraphs B34 and B36; consequently, cross-references to IFRS S1 paragraphs B6(b) and B11 are omitted in AASB S2 paragraphs B34–B36.

² As noted in AASB S1 paragraphs D1 and D2.

- BC22 The AASB's *Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting* and the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* are not legislative instruments and do not form part of the authoritative Australian Accounting Standards. While some Australian Accounting Standards refer to aspects of those Frameworks, the Frameworks themselves are not enforceable. Accordingly, ED SR1 proposed that the conceptual content set out in IFRS S1 should not be made enforceable.
- BC23 Some stakeholders commented that the context for sustainability reporting is different from the context for financial statements, for which there is a comprehensive set of Accountings Standards prescribing reporting requirements for a set of general purpose financial statements. They consider that conceptual content would be needed to help preparers ensure reported climate-related financial information is relevant to users and faithfully represents the substance of the effects of climate-related risks and opportunities on an entity's cash flows, its access to finance or cost of capital over the short, medium or long term. The AASB also re-evaluated the context in which the conceptual content set out in IFRS S1 is provided, and its nature, and observed that the content:
 - (a) does not seek to be a framework for evaluating proposed standards, as the role of a Conceptual Framework not having the force of an accounting standard is described in the AASB's enabling legislation;³ and
 - (b) is largely similar in nature to counterpart principles incorporated in some Australian Accounting Standards.
- BC24 Accordingly, the AASB concluded it would include the conceptual content in IFRS S1 in Appendix D in AASB S2, together with the other general principles in IFRS S1 that are considered necessary to enable AASB S2 to function as intended.
- BC25 In concluding that the general disclosure requirements needed to make AASB S2 function as intended should be located in Appendix D, the AASB noted its convention of including mandatory content supporting the body of a Standard in an Appendix, which is consistent with international conventions.⁴

Options for consolidated reporting

- BC26 In accordance with IFRS S1 paragraphs 20 and B38, an entity's climate-related financial disclosures are required to be prepared for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements. That is, to comply with IFRS S2, an entity would prepare climate-related financial disclosures for its consolidated group if the related financial statements are prepared for that consolidated group.
- BC27 However, the AASB observed that the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024* does not require the parent entity of a consolidated group to prepare climate-related financial disclosures for its consolidated group. Under section 292A(2) of the Corporations Act, as inserted by the legislative amendments, a parent entity has the choice of preparing a sustainability report for either the consolidated entity or the parent entity. Accordingly, the AASB added paragraphs Aus20.1 and AusB38.1 to Appendix D of AASB S2 to specify that an entity's climate-related financial disclosures shall be for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements unless otherwise permitted by law.

Consideration and disclosure of industry-based information

- BC28 The AASB decided, as an interim measure, not to require industry-based disclosures to be provided and therefore also not to require entities to consider the applicability of disclosure topics (and the industry-based metrics associated with those disclosure topics) defined in the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board (SASB) Standards and *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2* issued by the ISSB. Consequently, the AASB:
 - (a) modified or omitted the requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs 12, 23, 28(b), 32, 37, B65(d) and B67; and
 - (b) omitted the definition of "disclosure topic" set out in IFRS S2 Appendix A Defined terms.
- BC29 Feedback on ED 321 indicated strong support among respondents for developing mandatory requirements for industry-based disclosures as part of the ISSB's approach to standard-setting for sustainability-related financial information. However, many of those respondents did not support the ISSB's proposed industry-based disclosure requirements, which became the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2*. The

³ Australian Securities and Investments Commission Act 2001, section 227(1).

⁴ This is the convention adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board and the International Sustainability Standards Board.

majority of respondents to ED SR1 supported the AASB's proposal to omit these requirements, but requested the AASB undertake further work to develop industry-based disclosure requirements for Australian entities.

BC30 Acknowledging this feedback, the AASB made decisions regarding the consideration and disclosure of industry-based information as an interim measure, signalling its intention to redeliberate this matter in the near future. The AASB added a project to its workplan with respect to industry-based disclosure requirements. This project will focus on determining the appropriate basis and content of the industry-based disclosures, including assessing the industry-based classification system, the applicability of the industry-based disclosure topics and the industry-based metrics defined in the *Industry-based Guidance on Implementing IFRS S2*. The Treasury Policy Position Statement *Mandatory climate-related financial disclosures* (January 2024) states that "Entities should only be required to disclose against well-established and understood industry-based metrics from 1 July 2030 onwards." Accordingly, the AASB intends to finalise mandatory requirements for industry-based disclosures by 2030.

Users of a not-for-profit entity's GPFR

- BC31 Under the Corporations Act amendments, some not-for-profit entities will be required to disclose climaterelated financial information. To support those requirements, as noted in the *AASB Sustainability Reporting Standard-Setting Framework*, the AASB has determined that it will, as far as is practicable, focus on developing sector-neutral Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards. That is, it is the AASB's intention to develop transaction-neutral sustainability reporting Standards where possible. A transaction (or sector) neutrality approach to sustainability reporting Standards means that like transactions, other events and conditions are considered in a like manner for all types of entities, whatever their sector of activity, unless there is a justifiable reason not to do so. Accordingly, the AASB considered whether any modifications to the IFRS S2 baseline requirements might be needed for not-for-profit entities.
- BC32 The AASB decided to add paragraph AusA1 in Appendix A *Defined terms* to require a not-for-profit entity to refer to the meaning of "general purpose financial reports" and "primary users of general purpose financial reports" specified in the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* when applying AASB S2. The AASB also added guidance in paragraphs AusB14.1 and AusB15.1 in Appendix D *General Requirements for Disclosure of Climate-related Financial Information* to AASB S2.
- BC33 The AASB added those paragraphs because:
 - (a) IFRS S2 defines "primary users of general purpose financial reports" as existing and potential investors, lenders and other creditors, whereas users of a not-for-profit entity's GPFR described in the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* also include parliaments, taxpayers, donors and recipients of goods and services; and
 - (b) the definition of "general purpose financial reports" in IFRS S2 states that users' decision-making involves decisions about (1) buying, selling or holding equity and debt instruments; (2) providing or selling loans and other forms of credit; or (3) exercising rights to vote on, or otherwise influence, the entity's management's actions that affect the use of the entity's economic resources. In respect to not-for-profit entities, paragraph AusOB3.1 of the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* states that "users (such as certain existing and potential resource providers) are generally not concerned with obtaining a financial return on an investment in the entity. Rather, they are concerned with the ability of the entity to achieve its objectives (whether financial or nonfinancial), which in turn may depend, at least in part, on the entity's prospects for future net cash inflows. Users will, for example, be interested in the capability of the entity's resources to provide goods and services in the future."
- BC34 Additionally, paragraph AusOB2.1 of the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* provides examples of the resource allocation decisions of users of a not-for-profit entity's GPFR. The examples include:
 - (a) parliaments decide, on behalf of constituents, whether to fund particular programmes for delivery by an entity;
 - (b) taxpayers decide who should represent them in government;
 - (c) donors decide whether to donate resources to an entity, and
 - (d) recipients of goods and services decide whether they can continue to rely on the provision of goods and services from the entity or whether to seek alternative suppliers.
- BC35 ED SR1 proposed to modify the objective of the Standard so that a not-for-profit entity would be required to consider the effect of climate-related risks and opportunities on "the entity's ability to further its objectives" in addition to considering the effect on the entity's cash flows and its access to finance or cost of capital over

the short, medium and long term. Some stakeholders expressed concerns that the proposed modifications would imply a different basis of reporting for not-for-profit entities, compared to for-profit entities, either narrowing or widening the scope of climate-related risks and opportunities to be considered, which was not the AASB's intention. The AASB decided not to introduce the phrase "the entity's ability to further its objectives" in describing the objective of the Standard for not-for-profit entities, but to require a not-for-profit entity to refer to the *Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements* when applying AASB S2, as noted above.

Measurement of greenhouse gas emissions

- BC36 For the measurement of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, the AASB decided to align with the measurement hierarchy in IFRS S2 without modification. That hierarchy requires an entity to apply a method in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) to measure GHG emissions, but permits an entity to apply a different method when required to do so by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which the entity is listed.⁵ Accordingly, if an entity is required by an Australian authority (e.g. Australian legislation) to use a specific method for measuring its GHG emissions (e.g. methodologies in NGER Scheme legislation⁶), doing so would mean that such an entity would not have departed from IFRS S2.
- BC37 ED SR1 proposed requiring an entity to prioritise relevant methodologies in NGER Scheme legislation. This was consistent with Treasury's second consultation paper in June 2023, which indicated that the Australian Government would require an entity to apply methodologies set out in NGER Scheme legislation as the default methodologies in measuring its GHG emissions. Considering stakeholders' interest in closer alignment with IFRS S2, the AASB decided to align with the GHG emission measurement requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraph 29(a), and therefore prioritise the GHG Protocol, and not NGER Scheme legislation, as the default framework for measuring GHG emissions.
- BC38 The AASB considered that aligning with IFRS S2 would:
 - (a) support interoperability with other GHG reporting frameworks, such as European Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS), that also refer to the GHG Protocol;
 - (b) allow flexibility for both NGER and non-NGER reporters to determine the most appropriate and cost-effective methods to report their GHG emissions, including determining appropriate reporting boundaries for GHG emissions; and
 - (c) facilitate implementation by avoiding the need for an entity to determine whether applying a method in NGER Scheme legislation is practicable.
- BC39 AASB S2 paragraphs B22 and B29 require an entity to use emission factors that best represent the activity that is generating the GHG emissions. This requirement would apply irrespective of whether an entity measures GHG emissions in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) or in accordance with the methods required by a jurisdictional authority or an exchange on which the entity is listed.

Definition of greenhouse gases

- BC40 The AASB decided to retain the IFRS S2 definition of greenhouse gases as the seven greenhouse gases listed in the Kyoto Protocol, as proposed in ED SR1.
- BC41 The AASB observed that nitrogen trifluoride (NF₃) is not listed in NGER Scheme legislation as a class of greenhouse gas. Upon considering feedback received on ED SR1, the AASB decided to retain NF₃ in the definition of greenhouse gases. This is because it would:
 - (a) not conflict with the NGER Scheme legislation—it would be an addition to the requirements in NGER Scheme legislation;
 - (b) be unlikely to have a significant effect on Australian entities reporting under NGER Scheme legislation. The CSIRO informed the AASB that NF₃ emissions are currently immaterial in Australia because NF₃ is primarily produced in the manufacture of semiconductors, liquid crystal

⁵ For brevity, the Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (2004) and the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011) are referred to in this Basis for Conclusions as "GHG Protocol".

⁶ For the purposes of this Basis for Conclusions, NGER Scheme legislation means:

⁽a) the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007;

⁽b) the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Regulation 2008; and

⁽c) the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting (Measurement) Determination 2008.

display (LCD) panels, certain types of solar panels and chemical lasers and Australia does not have a significant presence in the manufacturing of these items; and

(c) accommodate the potential increase of NF₃ in Australia, in particular, considering Australia's policy ambition to be a renewable energy superpower with allied downstream manufacturing industries which may lead to more NF₃ emissions given it is used in the manufacture of renewable technologies (e.g. solar panels).⁷ Should NF₃ emissions become material in Australia in the future, the Clean Energy Regulator and DCCEEW may consider requiring NGER reporters to also report on NF₃ to align with the reporting needed under the Paris Agreement.

Converting greenhouse gases into a CO₂ equivalent value

- BC42 The AASB decided to incorporate in AASB S2 without modification the requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs B21 and B22 with respect to the requirement to convert greenhouse gases into a CO₂ equivalent value.
- BC43 To align with the reporting requirements related to the Paris Agreement and NGER Scheme legislation, ED SR1 proposed to require an entity to convert greenhouse gases into a CO₂ equivalent value using the global warming potential (GWP) values from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) Fifth Assessment Report (AR5), instead of the GWP values from the latest IPCC assessment available at the reporting date (the Sixth Assessment Report (AR6), which is the latest report available at the time of issuing this Standard).
- BC44 Considering stakeholders' significant support for closer alignment with IFRS S2, the AASB decided not to modify the requirements set out in paragraphs B21 and B22 of IFRS S2. In making this decision, the AASB noted that in accordance with paragraph B22 of this Standard, if an entity uses appropriate emission factors that have already converted the constituent gases into CO_2 equivalent values, the entity would not be required to recalculate the emission factors using GWP values from the latest IPCC assessment available at the reporting date. The Australian National Greenhouse Accounts Factors have already converted greenhouse gases into CO_2 equivalent values using the GWP values from IPCC AR5, which is consistent with the Paris Agreement.

Market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions

- BC45 The AASB considered but decided not to mandate disclosure of market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions.
- BC46 Consistent with the Treasury's second consultation paper, ED SR1 proposed to require an entity to disclose its market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions from the fourth year of applying Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards. Upon considering stakeholder feedback, the AASB decided that such a mandate is unnecessary. This is because:
 - (a) under IFRS S2 (and AASB S2), entities might provide information about their market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions if they consider it would be useful to the users of their climate-related financial disclosures; and
 - (b) if NGER Scheme legislation is updated in the future to require the reporting of market-based Scope 2 GHG emissions, NGER reporters may elect to disclose that information when preparing climate-related financial disclosures under AASB S2.

Scope 3 GHG emission categories

- BC47 Consistent with IFRS S2, the AASB decided to require an entity to disclose the sources of its Scope 3 GHG emissions using the 15 categories in the GHG Protocol.
- BC48 ED SR1 proposed not to prescribe specific categories an entity must use to categorise its sources of Scope 3 GHG emissions. Instead, ED SR1 included the 15 categories in the GHG Protocol as examples of categories that an entity could consider when categorising the sources of its emissions.
- BC49 The AASB observed that there was a consensus among stakeholders that the 15 categories in the GHG Protocol are well understood, sufficiently broad, and widely applied by entities in Australia and internationally. Accordingly, the AASB decided to incorporate in AASB S2 the requirements set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs B32–B33 without modification.

⁷ Parliament of Australia, *Australia's trade and investment opportunities in a global green economy*, October 2023, available via https://parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parlInfo/download/committees/reportjnt/RB000034/toc_pdf/Australia'stradeandinvestmentopportunitiesinagl obalgreeneconomy.pdf.

- BC50 The ISSB noted in paragraph BC110 of the Basis for Conclusions to IFRS S2 that the categories included in an entity's Scope 3 measurement will depend on the entity's facts and circumstances. An entity is required to consider the relevance of all 15 categories, but might determine that not all categories are applicable to the entity and therefore do not need to be included in the disclosure of its Scope 3 GHG emissions.
- BC51 Chapter 5 of the Greenhouse Gas Protocol Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and Reporting Standard (2011) states that any Scope 3 activities not captured by the 15 categories may be reported separately. Consistent with IFRS S1 paragraphs 15(b) and B26 (incorporated in Appendix D of AASB S2) regarding providing additional information to ensure a fair presentation in the GPFR, an entity separately reports material Scope 3 GHG emissions that are not captured by the activities under the 15 categories in the GHG Protocol.

Reporting Scope 3 GHG emissions using information for a period different from the entity's reporting period

- BC52 The AASB observed that paragraph B19 of the Standard (and IFRS S2) allows an entity to measure its GHG emissions using information for reporting periods that are different from its own reporting period, if certain conditions are met. Therefore, the AASB decided to omit from AASB S2 paragraph AusB39.1 in [draft] ASRS 2 as proposed in ED SR1, which proposed to permit an entity to measure and disclose its Scope 3 GHG emissions using data for the immediately preceding reporting period if reasonable and supportable data related to the current reporting period is unavailable. That proposal was consistent with the Treasury's second consultation paper that Australian Sustainability Reporting Standards were expected to provide additional relief to allow entities to disclose estimates of their Scope 3 GHG emissions relating to any one-year period, up to 12 months prior to the relevant reporting period.
- BC53 There was general support from stakeholders for the flexibility to allow entities to use Scope 3 GHG emission information obtained from its value chain partners for a period that differs from its reporting period in certain circumstances, which is consistent with the provision in paragraph B19 of the Standard (and IFRS S2).

Financed emissions

- BC54 Consistent with IFRS S2, the AASB decided to require entities participating in financial activities of asset management, commercial banking or insurance to provide the additional and specific financed-emission disclosures set out in IFRS S2 paragraphs B61–B63.
- BC55 ED SR1 proposed to require such an entity to consider the applicability of those additional disclosures, rather than requiring disclosure of the financed emission information, to solicit feedback from stakeholders on whether all such financed emission information would be relevant and useful to Australian entities that participate in asset management, commercial banking or insurance activities.
- BC56 Some stakeholders expressed concerns that:
 - (a) the requirement in IFRS S2 paragraphs B62 and B63 for an entity to disclose disaggregation of an entity's absolute gross financed emission by Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions for each industry by asset class could be challenging due to potentially limited availability of value chain data and would create an unnecessary administrative burden for reporting entities; and
 - (b) there is currently no industry standard for calculating financed emissions for undrawn commitments.
- BC57 The AASB acknowledged the stakeholders' concerns described in paragraph BC56 and that more time may be needed for entities to prepare the additional financed emission information. However, the AASB observed that the transition relief provided by paragraph C4(b) for an entity to not disclose its Scope 3 GHG emissions in the first year of applying the Standard means that an entity that participates in financial activities of asset management, commercial banking or insurance is required to prepare the additional financed emission information set out in paragraphs B61–B63 only from the second year of applying AASB S2. Accordingly, the AASB decided that no modification is needed relating to the requirements set out in those IFRS S2 paragraphs.
- BC58 The AASB noted the ISSB confirmed that IFRS S2 requires financed emission disclosure only for insurancerelated financial activities associated with an insurer's assets. In other words, IFRS S2 does not require disclosure of the 'associated emissions' of underwriting portfolios in the insurance and reinsurance industries. The AASB also noted that, for all financial activities, the ISSB decided to remove the proposal for an entity to include derivatives when calculating its financed emissions. The AASB adopted the same position as the ISSB for insurance-related financial activities and derivatives.

Other key matters considered by the AASB in developing AASB S2

- BC59 Other key matters considered in developing AASB S2 but for which the AASB decided that no modification or addition to the baseline of IFRS S2 is warranted included:
 - (a) whether to specify temperature outcomes for scenario analysis;
 - (b) cross-industry remuneration disclosure;
 - (c) internal carbon prices;
 - (d) definition of carbon credits;
 - (e) carbon offsets and greenhouse gas removals; and
 - (f) superannuation entity application issues.

Whether to specify temperature outcomes for scenario analysis

- BC60 The AASB decided to align with the requirements in IFRS S2 and not prescribe specific temperature outcomes for scenario analysis.
- BC61 Consistent with the Treasury's second consultation paper, ED SR1 proposed to require assessment against at least two relevant possible future states, one of which must be consistent with the most ambitious global temperature goal set out in the *Climate Change Act 2022* (i.e. 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels). Most stakeholders who responded to ED SR1 on this topic supported additional requirements to the baseline of IFRS S2 with respect to scenario analysis, on the basis that any additional requirements would not be a departure from IFRS S2. Specifically:
 - (a) most stakeholders supported the proposals in ED SR1;
 - (b) many stakeholders preferred the Standard to also specify a requirement to assess a high-warming scenario to ensure that a high-warming world is considered. Some of those stakeholders preferred the Standard to specify the temperature outcome to assess, but there was no consensus among stakeholders on which high-warming outcome to specify; and
 - (c) some of those stakeholders described in (a) and (b) who preferred the Standard to prescribe temperature outcome(s) also preferred specifying the scenario pathway, or the time horizon, required for each prescribed temperature outcome.
- BC62 The AASB observed that those stakeholder preferences have been addressed by the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024.* That Act specifies the minimum requirements relating to climate scenario analysis, which includes assessing both a high-warming scenario and a low-warming scenario. Subsection 296D(2B) of the Corporations Act (as amended) states that:

"... disclosure of a scenario analysis, information derived from a scenario analysis or information about a scenario analysis is taken not to satisfy that requirement unless the scenario analysis is carried out using at least both of the following scenarios:

- (a) the increase in the global average temperature well exceeds the increase mentioned in subparagraph 3(a)(i) of the *Climate Change Act 2022*;
- (b) the increase in the global average temperature is limited to the increase mentioned in subparagraph 3(a)(ii) of that Act."
- BC63 Subparagraph 3(a)(i) of the Climate Change Act states "... holding the increase in the global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels", and subparagraph 3(a)(ii) states "... pursuing efforts to limit the temperature increase to 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels." Paragraph 2.17 of the supplementary Explanatory Memorandum accompanying the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act 2024* states that an increase of 2.5°C or higher would be considered to well exceed the increase mentioned in subparagraph 3(a)(i) of the Climate Change Act.
- BC64 The AASB considered whether to specify in AASB S2 the minimum requirements relating to scenario analysis as set out in the legislation. The AASB decided not to do so because:
 - (a) AASB S2 sets out the principles for assessing an entity's climate resilience using scenario analysis. The number of relevant scenarios to assess would depend on the entity's facts and circumstances, including the nature and location of its operations and the physical and transition risks to which it is exposed (see paragraphs BC66–BC69 of the Basis for Conclusions to IFRS S2). It is not the role of the Standard to prescribe specific temperature outcomes for scenario analysis; and
 - (b) prescribing specific temperature outcomes in AASB S2 would require future amendments to ensure the prescribed temperature outcomes remained consistent with Australian legislation.

Cross-industry remuneration disclosure

- BC65 The AASB decided to align with the requirements in IFRS S2 with respect to cross-industry remuneration disclosure.
- BC66 Some stakeholders commented that:
 - (a) the degree of interpretative uncertainty relating to the terms 'executive', 'executive management' and 'remuneration' is unlikely to be sufficiently significant to warrant modification from the baseline of IFRS S2. Consequently, the AASB decided to omit paragraph Aus29.1 proposed in [draft] ASRS 2 that referred to the 'key management personnel' and 'compensation' definitions in AASB 124 *Related Party Disclosures*; and
 - (b) there may be challenges in calculating the percentage of remuneration linked to climate-related considerations based on remuneration recognised under Accounting Standards. The AASB determined that any challenges identified by stakeholders in applying the requirements set out in paragraph 29(g) of IFRS S2 do not represent matters specific to the Australian environment that would warrant departure from the baseline of IFRS S2 in accordance with the AASB Sustainability Reporting Standard-Setting Framework (September 2023).
- BC67 Additionally, some stakeholders commented that information prepared under the requirements set out in paragraph 29(g) of IFRS S2, on a standalone basis, might appear out of context relative to the existing remuneration disclosure requirements set out in Australian legislation for ASX-listed and APRA-regulated entities. The AASB observed that under paragraph 63 of IFRS S1, entities (including ASX-listed entities and APRA-regulated entities) are permitted to disclose information required under paragraph 29(g) of AASB S2 by cross-referencing to their remuneration reports, if the conditions in paragraphs B45–B47 of IFRS S1 are met. The AASB decided to incorporate those IFRS S1 paragraphs in Appendix D of AASB S2.

Internal carbon prices

- BC68 Paragraph 29(f) requires an entity to disclose the following information:
 - (a) an explanation of whether and how the entity is applying a carbon price in decision-making (for example, investment decisions, transfer pricing and scenario analysis); and
 - (b) the price for each metric tonne of greenhouse gas emissions the entity uses to assess the costs of its greenhouse gas emissions.
- BC69 Some stakeholders commented that the internal carbon price adopted by an entity is commercially sensitive. They commented that, in the energy sector, mandatory disclosure of this information could give competitors valuable insight into the cost structures, operational efficiencies and strategic decision making (including risk management) of the entity.
- BC70 The AASB noted that paragraphs 73 and B34–B37 of IFRS S1 relieve an entity from disclosing information about a sustainability-related opportunity that is commercially sensitive. The AASB decided to incorporate those IFRS S1 paragraphs in Appendix D.

Definition of carbon credits

- BC71 The AASB decided to align with the IFRS S2 definition of carbon credits with no modification.
- BC72 ED SR1 proposed to amend the definition of carbon credits to include an explicit reference to the Australian Carbon Credit Unit (ACCU) Scheme. The AASB considered stakeholder feedback and observed that modifying the definition of carbon credits could have the unintended consequences of:
 - (a) implying that all emission units recognised under the ACCU Scheme are not 'carbon credits' under IFRS S2, and that other Australian domestic emission units (e.g. Safeguard Mechanism credit units) should be treated differently from ACCUs in the context of reporting net GHG emission targets;
 - (b) reducing an entity's application of judgement regarding which offsetting measures meet the carbon credit definition; and
 - (c) reducing the ability of the Standard to accommodate the future development of any new emission offset programs if the ACCU Scheme is specifically included in the definition of carbon credits.

Carbon offsets and greenhouse gas removals

BC73 Some stakeholders commented that IFRS S2 specifies the disclosure requirements about carbon credits (in paragraph 36(e)) but is unclear about the reporting requirements relating to carbon offsets and GHG removals.

IFRS S2 paragraph B68 establishes the principle that net GHG emissions targets are the entity's targeted gross GHG emissions minus any planned offsetting efforts. The AASB is of the view that when reporting net GHG emissions targets an entity could include the effects of any material carbon credits, carbon offsets and GHG removals.

BC74 In accordance with IFRS S1 paragraphs 15(b) and B26 (incorporated in Appendix D of AASB S2) regarding providing additional information to ensure a fair presentation in the GPFR, to meet the disclosure objective related to metrics and targets the AASB is of the view that where information about carbon offsets or GHG removals is material, an entity would be required to disclose sufficient information about these offsetting efforts to enable users of GPFR to understand progress towards any climate-related targets.

Superannuation entity application issues

- BC75 The AASB did not identify any superannuation-specific issues that would warrant modifications to the requirements set out in IFRS S2.
- BC76 Some stakeholders raised concerns about the costs that might be incurred by superannuation funds to prepare climate-related financial disclosures and commented that there are multiple entities associated with the operation of a superannuation fund. They requested the AASB to clarify which entities related to operating a superannuation fund would be within the scope of AASB S2. The AASB observed that this issue is not unique to the superannuation industry and is relevant also to any collective managed investment vehicle. IFRS S1 paragraph 20 (incorporated in Appendix D as paragraph Aus20.1) states that an entity's sustainability-related disclosures shall be for the same reporting entity as the related financial statements. Accordingly, entities subject to climate-related disclosure requirements should be the same as those to which AASB 1056 *Superannuation Entities* applies. The Basis for Conclusions to AASB 1056 (paragraphs BC23–BC41) discusses the reporting entity concept and superannuation entities.
- BC77 Many stakeholders who responded to this topic also commented that the users of GPFR of a superannuation entity, as described in paragraph BC12 of the Basis for Conclusions to AASB 1056, are broader than the users of GPFR defined in Appendix A of IFRS S2. Most of these stakeholders indicated that the differences could lead to different climate-related disclosure requirements for superannuation entities compared with other types of entities. Some stakeholders indicated that the reporting requirements for superannuation entities should be calibrated to generate information that would be useful to the average member of a superannuation fund.
- BC78 In contrast, some other stakeholders commented that there are no superannuation entity-specific challenges associated with the requirements set out in IFRS S1 and IFRS S2. They commented that superannuation entities are no different from other types of entities that make investments as a profit-making activity, including insurers, and the same climate-related disclosure requirements should apply to such investment activities regardless of the entity type.

Public sector application issues

- BC79 The AASB does not have the authority to mandate which entities are required to comply with AASB S2. In respect to public sector entities, the relevant authority in each jurisdiction in Australia will decide which, if any, of their public sector entities would need to comply with all or some of the requirements set out in AASB S2.
- BC80 The AASB is aware that the Treasury/Finance Departments and the Offices of Local Government in a few jurisdictions are planning to develop climate-related financial disclosure requirements for their public sector entities based on AASB S2. Similar to the feedback on ED SR1, some AASB members were concerned that AASB S2 might not be suitable for application by not-for-profit public sector entities without further modification, noting differences in the governance structure, objectives and functions of such entities compared to private sector entities. For example, there are public-sector-specific implications associated with the application of AASB S2, including:
 - (a) the appropriate identification of the reporting entity and the subsequent level of reporting (e.g. whole of state, whole of government or individual agencies); and
 - (b) how to determine the value chain of a government and public sector entities with multi-stakeholder groups.
- BC81 The feedback received by the AASB from Australian stakeholders on the IPSASB Consultation Paper *Advancing Public Sector Sustainability Reporting* (May 2022) indicated their preference for the Australian reporting requirements to align with any future global public-sector-specific sustainability reporting guidance. The IPSASB is undertaking its own Climate-related Disclosures project to develop a Standard that would provide not-for-profit public-sector-specific guidance on climate-related disclosures.

BC82 In accordance with the *AASB Sustainability Reporting Standard-Setting Framework*, the AASB added a project to its workplan to consider whether modifications to AASB S2 or guidance would need to be developed for Australian not-for-profit public sector entities. The AASB decided that the project would begin by considering the forthcoming IPSASB Exposure Draft on climate-related disclosures, which is expected to be published in October 2024.

Scalability and cost-benefit considerations for not-for-profit and smaller entities

- BC83 The AASB noted scalability and cost-benefit concerns raised by stakeholders representing not-for-profit private and public sector entities and smaller entities (large proprietary companies) that would be required to comply with AASB S2 under the phase-in requirements of the Corporations Act amendments. Some of those stakeholders commented that:
 - (a) the proportionality mechanisms in the baseline of IFRS S2 are insufficient to address scalability and cost-benefit concerns for not-for-profit entities and smaller entities in Australia; and
 - (b) the level of education and upskilling required by preparers in order to implement the proposed Standards, including involving external consultants or specialists, would be expensive, require significant time and investment, and be potentially cost-prohibitive for not-for-profit entities and smaller unlisted entities.
- BC84 The AASB observed that the areas of concern mainly related to the requirements to measure Scope 3 GHG emissions and to undertake climate-related scenario analysis, which are specifically mentioned in the Corporations Act amendments. The AASB decided to undertake a project to explore potential solutions for addressing scalability and cost-benefit concerns for not-for-profit entities and smaller entities.

Impact analysis

- BC85 The AASB issued AASB S2 to support the Australian legislation (as outlined in the Corporations Act amendments) that requires large businesses and financial institutions to prepare climate-related financial disclosures. The AASB has been advised by the Office of Impact Analysis that the AASB does not need to undertake an Impact Analysis for the mandatory climate-related disclosure Standard on the basis that the regulatory impact has already been calculated by the Treasury in relation to the proposed legislative amendments and assessed by the OIA (refer OIA, Published Impact Analysis "Climate risk disclosure", January 2024).
- BC86 As described in paragraphs BC79–BC84, some AASB members have concerns that some public sector application issues have not yet been addressed and the benefits of applying AASB S2 may not exceed the costs for some entities. However, they note that these issues will be considered in the future AASB projects described in paragraphs BC82 and BC84, and AASB S2 will be the subject of a post-implementation review which will commence shortly after entities begin application.
- BC87 Furthermore, the AASB notes that the Australian Government will conduct a review of climate disclosure requirements in 2028–29. The Treasury Policy Position Statement *Mandatory climate-related financial disclosures* (January 2024) states that the Australian Government will conduct a review of climate disclosure requirements in 2028–29. The review will be led by Treasury, working with the Council of Financial Regulators. At a minimum, the review will examine the effectiveness of coverage settings (particularly the approach to Group 3 entities), appropriateness of the liability framework and whether there are any other barriers that may be affecting a company's ability to make quality disclosures, including data availability, and supporting materials.

Effective date

- BC88 The financial period in which an entity is first required to apply AASB S2 is specified in the Corporations Act as amended by the *Treasury Laws Amendment (Financial Market Infrastructure and Other Measures) Act* 2024. It specifies three application dates (financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2025, 1 July 2026 and 1 July 2027) for the various classes of entity, based on entity size or, for NGER reporters, on level of emissions.
- BC89 To support the Corporations Act requirements, AASB S2 has an effective date of annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. However, entities required to comply with the Standard follow their application date as set out in the legislation. Earlier application is permitted.

Dissenting view

Dissent of Caroline Spencer

- DV1 I consider the AASB did what was necessary in the circumstances to develop AASB S2 to support the Australian Government's decision to require certain large businesses and financial institutions to prepare climate-related financial disclosures in annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. However, given this internationally-aligned Standard is developed based on IFRS S1 and IFRS S2, which have been designed for larger for-profit entities to meet their investors' needs, I am not confident that application to smaller and not-for-profit entities in the private and public sectors meets the threshold for my support as an AASB Board member, of being in 'the best interests of the private and public sectors in the Australian economy'.
- DV2 In particular, I have concerns around the cost, the usefulness and the auditability of these reporting requirements. As far as I can discern, they have never been fully implemented or audited anywhere in the world, even for the largest reporting entities.
- DV3 I am particularly concerned about the cost relative to benefit overall for smaller and not-for-profit entities in the private and public sectors, while recognising that identifying which entities are required to apply AASB S2 is beyond the role of the AASB.
- DV4 I also have strong concerns around the requirements to disclose Scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions when the concepts of reporting entity control, as well as verifiability and usefulness to report users regarding allocating scarce resources to an entity and across entities, are not established in my view. My concerns in this regard are heightened for smaller and not-for-profit entities in the private and public sectors.
- DV5 While AASB S2 contains some useful terminology and concepts, most of Australia's significant financial impacts of climate-related physical and transition risks, opportunities and resilience, are (and will be) evident through existing corporate reporting and analysis mechanisms. Moreover, Australia's large energy producers, consumers and greenhouse gas emitters are already captured through mandatory National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Scheme obligations.
- DV6 A further consideration for adoption of AASB S2 in the public sector is its different role and obligations in relation to climate-related financial risk. The public sector often acts as both the emergency first responder and the funder of last resort when adverse events occur in the community. The complexity of the circumstances and multitude of drivers of adversity response and recovery decisions, and therefore financial impacts, cannot be reliably estimated on a whole of jurisdiction scale therefore, I do not consider they could sensibly fit within the requirements set out in AASB S2.
- DV7 Sustainability reporting as required by the recent Corporations Act amendments and specified in AASB S2 represents a profound shift and cost escalation in Australian corporate reporting. However, the practical benefits of mandatory reporting in accordance with AASB S2 for users and the Australian financial system and environment have not yet been demonstrated or clearly articulated. When combined with acute shortages in reporting and auditing capability and capacity, which particularly affect smaller and not-for-profit entities in the private and public sectors, implementation of AASB S2 is, in my view, unworkable.